
REPORT  OF  THE  INDEPENDENT  CERTIFIED  PUBLIC  ACCOUNTANTS  

 

TO  THE  SHAREHOLDERS  AND  BOARD  OF  DIRECTORS 

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Taokaenoi Food & Marketing Public 

Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the separate financial statements of 

Taokaenoi Food & Marketing Public Company Limited (the “Company”), which comprise the 

consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the 

related consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of Taokaenoi Food & Marketing Public Company 

Limited and its subsidiaries and of Taokaenoi Food & Marketing Public Company Limited as 

at December 31, 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRSs”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing (“TSAs”). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Group in accordance with the Federation of Accounting Professions’ Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants that are relevant to the audit of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matter 

 

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance 

in our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. 

This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 

a separate opinion on this matter. 
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Key Audit Matter Audit Responses 

Valuation of investment in a subsidiary 

in the separate financial statements  

 

A subsidiary of the Company has incurred 

substantial retained deficit which may be 

an indication that the carrying amount of 

investment in such subsidiary in the 

separate financial statements may exceed 

the recoverable amount. Therefore, the 

investment of a subsidiary may be impaired. 

 

The consideration of impairment of 

investment in such subsidiary in the 

separate financial statements is depended 

on the judgements and assumptions used 

by management in estimating the 

recoverable amount. 

 

Accounting policies for impairment of 

investments and details of investment in a 

subsidiary were disclosed in the Notes 

3.15, 4 and 9 to the financial statements. 

 

Our key audit procedures included: 

• Understanding the impairment consideration 

process and related internal control 

procedures relating to recognition of 

loss from impairment 

• Reviewing the design and implementation 

of the internal control procedures for 

such matter  

• Involving our internal specialist to assist 

with: 

- Critically evaluating whether the 

model used by management to 

calculate the value in use of the 

individual Cash Generating Units 

complies with the requirements of 

TAS 36 Impairment of Assets. 

- Validating the assumptions used to 

calculate the discount rates and 

recalculating these rates. 

• Analyzing the projected future cash 

flows used in the models to determine 

whether they are reasonable and 

supportable given the current market 

and expected future performance. 

• Subjecting the key assumptions to 

sensitivity analysis. 

• Comparing the projected cash flows, 

including the assumptions relating to 

revenue growth rates and operating 

margins, against historical performance 

to test the accuracy of management’s 

projections. 

• Comparing between the recoverable 

amount and the carrying value. 
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Emphasis of Matters 

 

We draw attention to Notes 2.5.2 and 2.6 to the financial statements, which describes the 

adoption of Thai Financial Reporting Standard No. 16 “Leases” and the Accounting 

Treatment Guidance on “The temporary relief measure for additional accounting alternatives 

to alleviate the impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak” issued by the Federation of Accounting 

Professions. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of these matters. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated and separate 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available 

to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other 

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, 

we are required to communicate the matter to management and those charged with 

governance for correction of the misstatement. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

and separate financial statements in accordance with TFRSs, and for such internal control 

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 

separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, management is responsible 

for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group and 

the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and the Company’s 

financial reporting process. 



Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Audit    

ดีลอยท ์ทูช้ โธมทัสุ ไชยยศ สอบบญัชี 

- 4 - 

 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and 

separate financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with TSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 

or conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and 

separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 

and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matter. We describe 

this matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 

about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Choopong  Surachutikarn 

 Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) 

BANGKOK Registration No. 4325 

March 1, 2021 DELOITTE  TOUCHE  TOHMATSU  JAIYOS  AUDIT  CO.,  LTD. 



NOTES

2020 2019 2020 2019

ASSETS

CURRENT  ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 208,579,540 162,298,035 189,530,371 130,928,093

Temporary investments 2.5.1 and 6 - 7,612,435 - 4,870,735

Trade and other current receivables 7 436,288,492 919,176,535 486,693,992 1,026,535,791

Short-term loan to a subsidiary 28 - - 99,500,000 -

Inventories 8 1,258,707,519 1,332,570,702 1,222,707,345 1,264,451,089

Other current financial assets 6 274,649,781 - 271,820,206 -

Other current assets 23,454,242 47,236,839 13,840,809 44,164,253

Total Current Assets 2,201,679,574 2,468,894,546 2,284,092,723 2,470,949,961

NON-CURRENT  ASSETS

Investment in subsidiaries 9 -           - 137,461,570 137,461,570

Investment property 10 39,745,095 39,745,095 39,745,095 39,745,095

Property, plant and equipment 11 982,907,868 1,018,745,092 942,818,275 961,186,363

Right-of-use assets 12 87,684,291 - 62,792,487 -

Goodwill 13 11,468,294 11,512,927 - -

Other intangible assets other than goodwill 14 55,671,730 50,969,372 40,806,907 34,222,029

Deferred tax assets 23 75,804,527 65,822,810 27,692,585 19,710,161

Other non-current assets 25,959,949 50,885,406 13,539,645 20,831,737

Total Non-current Assets 1,279,241,754 1,237,680,702 1,264,856,564 1,213,156,955

TOTAL  ASSETS 3,480,921,328 3,706,575,248 3,548,949,287 3,684,106,916

Notes to the financial statements from an integral part of these statements

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS  OF  FINANCIAL  POSITION

AS  AT  DECEMBER  31,  2020

UNIT : BAHT

CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS



NOTES

2020 2019 2020 2019

CURRENT  LIABILITIES

Short-term borrowings from financial institutions 15 690,217,376 854,671,573 680,217,376 846,671,573

Trade and other current payables 16 568,334,245 603,777,807 546,755,337 555,949,706

Current portion of lease liabilities 19 25,155,186 - 10,426,694 -

Short-term borrowings 17 14,588,415 24,055,680 - -

Income tax payable 21,318,426 11,774,221 21,316,954 11,766,634

Other current liabilities 38,053,289 45,619,590 24,673,376 38,910,113

Total Current Liabilities 1,357,666,937 1,539,898,871 1,283,389,737 1,453,298,026

NON-CURRENT  LIABILITIES

Long-term borrowing 18 4,506,556 - - -

Lease liabilities 19 63,184,993 - 52,742,598     -

Non-current provision for employee benefits 20 31,337,661 25,473,718 29,526,434 24,874,922

Other non-current liabilities 1,658,286 - - -

Total Non-current Liabilities 100,687,496 25,473,718 82,269,032 24,874,922

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,458,354,433 1,565,372,589 1,365,658,769 1,478,172,948

SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY

SHARE  CAPITAL

Authorized share capital

 1,380,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 0.25 each 345,000,000 345,000,000 345,000,000 345,000,000

Issued and paid-up share capital

 1,380,000,000 ordinary shares of Baht 0.25 each,

 fully paid 345,000,000 345,000,000 345,000,000 345,000,000

SHARE PREMIUM ON ORDINARY SHARES 1,315,440,000 1,315,440,000 1,315,440,000 1,315,440,000

SURPLUS  ARISING  FROM  CHANGE  IN  OWNERSHIP

INTEREST  IN  A  SUBSIDIARY 1,186,255 1,186,255 - -

RETAINED  EARNINGS 

Appropriated 

Legal reserve 21 34,500,000 34,500,000 34,500,000 34,500,000

Unappropriated 331,283,260 449,510,851 488,350,518 510,959,570

OTHER  COMPONENTS  OF  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY (4,407,696) (4,715,426) - 34,398

TOTAL  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY  ATTRIBUTABLE 

TO  OWNERS  OF  THE  PARENT 2,023,001,819 2,140,921,680 2,183,290,518 2,205,933,968

NON-CONTROLLING  INTERESTS (434,924) 280,979 - -

TOTAL  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY 2,022,566,895 2,141,202,659 2,183,290,518 2,205,933,968

TOTAL  LIABILITIES  AND  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY 3,480,921,328 3,706,575,248 3,548,949,287 3,684,106,916

Notes to the financial statements from an integral part of these statements

STATEMENTS  OF  FINANCIAL  POSITION  (CONTINUED)

AS  AT  DECEMBER  31,  2020

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES

   LIABILITIES  AND  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY 

UNIT : BAHT

CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS



NOTES

2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenues

Revenue from sales 3,983,113,688 5,266,779,496 3,843,840,147 4,929,891,705

Other income 15,863,426 29,558,399 16,211,108 17,476,113

Gain on exchange rates 293,984 996,624 413,820 944,870

Total revenues 3,999,271,098 5,297,334,519 3,860,465,075 4,948,312,688

Expenses

Cost of sales 2,959,050,876 3,786,467,306 2,865,820,209 3,569,869,904

Distribution costs 442,360,131 768,086,519 367,857,412 635,165,372

Administrative expenses 306,724,098 343,595,168 240,364,751 259,334,235

Total expenses 3,708,135,105 4,898,148,993 3,474,042,372 4,464,369,511

Profit from operating activities 291,135,993 399,185,526 386,422,703 483,943,177

Finance costs (18,084,344) (26,301,612) (15,971,464) (23,676,017)

Profit before income tax expense 273,051,649 372,883,914 370,451,239 460,267,160

Income tax expense 23 (31,179,654) (11,042,632) (33,073,408) (30,973,873)

PROFIT  FOR  THE  YEAR 241,871,995 361,841,282 337,377,831 429,293,287

OTHER  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME (LOSS):

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

   Unrealized gain on revaluation of

      available-for-sale investments - net of income tax - 32,449 - 32,449

   Exchange differences on translating financial statements 375,099 (2,181,578) - -

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

   Acturial loss - net of income tax (2,082,858)     (1,623,616)     (1,221,281)     (1,562,053)     

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year

   - net of income tax (1,707,759) (3,772,745) (1,221,281) (1,529,604)

TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME  FOR  THE  YEAR 240,164,236 358,068,537 336,156,550 427,763,683

PROFIT  (LOSS)  ATTRIBUTABLE  TO

    Owners of the Parent 242,620,869 366,238,134 337,377,831 429,293,287

    Non-controlling interests (748,874) (4,396,852)

241,871,995 361,841,282

TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME  (LOSS)

  ATTRIBUTABLE  TO

Owners of the Parent 240,880,139 362,657,741 336,156,550 427,763,683

Non-controlling interests (715,903) (4,589,204)

240,164,236 358,068,537

BASIC  EARNINGS  PER  SHARE  (BAHT) 29 0.18 0.26 0.24 0.31

WEIGHTED  AVERAGE  NUMBER  OF

ORDINARY  SHARES (SHARES) 1,380,000,000 1,380,000,000 1,380,000,000 1,380,000,000

Notes to the financial statements from an integral part of these statements

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS  OF  PROFIT  OR  LOSS  AND  OTHER  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME

FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED DECEMBER  31,  2020

UNIT : BAHT

CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE



UNIT : BAHT

NOTES

Surplus arising

from change in Unrealized gain Exchange Total other Total shareholders’

Issued and Share premium ownership Appropriated (loss) on revaluation differences components of equity attributable Total

paid-up on ordinary  interest in - legal reserve of available-for-sale on translating shareholders’ to owners Non - controlling shareholders’

share capital shares a subsidiary The Company Unappropriated investments financial statement equity of the Parent interests equity

Beginning balances as at January 1, 2019 345,000,000       1,315,440,000    1,121,461           34,500,000         471,296,333       1,949                        (2,760,598)                     (2,758,649)          2,164,599,145            3,636,027           2,168,235,172    

Profit (loss) for the year - - - - 366,238,134       - - - 366,238,134               (4,396,852)          361,841,282       

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - - (1,623,616)          32,449                      (1,989,226)                     (1,956,777)          (3,580,393)                 (192,352)             (3,772,745)          

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - - 364,614,518       32,449                      (1,989,226)                     (1,956,777)          362,657,741               (4,589,204)          358,068,537       

Change in equity attributable to non-controlling

interests of a subsidiary - - 64,794                - - - - - 64,794                        1,234,156           1,298,950           

Dividends paid 26 - - - - (386,400,000)      - - - (386,400,000)             - (386,400,000)      

Ending balances as at December 31, 2019 345,000,000       1,315,440,000    1,186,255           34,500,000         449,510,851       34,398                      (4,749,824)                     (4,715,426)          2,140,921,680            280,979              2,141,202,659    

Beginning balances as at January 1, 2020

- before application of TFRS 9 345,000,000 1,315,440,000 1,186,255 34,500,000 449,510,851 34,398 (4,749,824) (4,715,426) 2,140,921,680 280,979 2,141,202,659

Effects of adoption of TFRS 9 2.5.1 - - - - 34,398 (34,398) - (34,398) - - -

Beginning balance as at January 1, 2020

- after adjustment of TFRS 9 345,000,000 1,315,440,000 1,186,255 34,500,000 449,545,249 - (4,749,824) (4,749,824) 2,140,921,680 280,979 2,141,202,659

Profit (loss) for the year - - - - 242,620,869 - - - 242,620,869               (748,874)             241,871,995       

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - - (2,082,858) - 342,128                         342,128 (1,740,730)                 32,971                (1,707,759)          

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - - 240,538,011       - 342,128                         342,128              240,880,139               (715,903)             240,164,236       

Dividends paid 26 - - - - (358,800,000)      - - - (358,800,000)             - (358,800,000)      

Ending balances as at December 31, 2020 345,000,000       1,315,440,000    1,186,255           34,500,000         331,283,260       - (4,407,696)                     (4,407,696)          2,023,001,819            (434,924)             2,022,566,895    

Notes to the financial statements from an integral part of these statements

Retained earnings

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS  OF  CHANGES  IN  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY  

FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  DECEMBER  31,  2020

CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other components of shareholders’ equity



NOTES

 Other components of  

 shareholders’ equity 

 Other comprehensive 

 income (loss) 

Unrealized gain (loss)

on revaluation of

 Issued and paid-up  Share premium  Appropriated available-for-sale  Total 

 share capital  on ordinary shares Legal reserve Unappropriated investments  shareholders’ equity 

Beginning balances as at January 1, 2019 345,000,000            1,315,440,000         34,500,000      469,628,336        1,949                            2,164,570,285            

Profit for the year - - - 429,293,287        - 429,293,287               

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - (1,562,053)           32,449                          (1,529,604)                  

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 427,731,234        32,449                          427,763,683               

Dividends paid 26 - - - (386,400,000)       - (386,400,000)              

Ending balances as at December 31, 2019 345,000,000            1,315,440,000         34,500,000      510,959,570        34,398                          2,205,933,968            

Beginning balance as at January 1, 2020

  - before application of TFRS 9 345,000,000            1,315,440,000         34,500,000      510,959,570        34,398                          2,205,933,968            

Effects of adoption of TFRS 9 2.5.1 - - - 34,398                 (34,398)                        -

Beginning balance as at January 1, 2020

- after adjustment of TFRS 9 345,000,000            1,315,440,000         34,500,000      510,993,968        - 2,205,933,968            

Profit for the year - - - 337,377,831        - 337,377,831               

Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - (1,221,281)           - (1,221,281)                  

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 336,156,550        - 336,156,550               

Dividends paid 26 - - - (358,800,000)       - (358,800,000)              

Ending balances as at December 31, 2020 345,000,000            1,315,440,000         34,500,000      488,350,518        - 2,183,290,518            

Notes to the financial statements from an integral part of these statements

SEPARATE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS  OF  CHANGES  IN  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY  (CONTINUED)

FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  DECEMBER  31,  2020

UNIT : BAHT

Retained earnings



NOTES

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

2020 2019 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax expense 273,051,649      372,883,914      370,451,239      460,267,160      

Adjustments for

Depreciation of fixed assets and right-of-use assets 175,061,018      154,257,422      139,329,792      132,998,007      

Amortization of intangible assets 7,856,578          9,081,182          5,670,952          7,226,599          

Unrealized gain on derivative (22,257)              (127,050)            (22,257)              (127,050)            

Loss from devaluation of inventories (reversal) 31,762,708        (20,924,372)       27,651,754        (21,348,868)       

Loss allowance (reversal) 4,182,593          (644,249)            1,461,688          (375,825)            

Impairment loss on fixed assets (reversal) (2,035,615)         4,344,505          - -

(Gain) loss on sale and write-off of fixed assets and intangible assets 7,628,746          26,228,991        (857,155)            414,628             

Difference from rental discount from temporary relief measure 306,116             - 4,943                 -

Difference from cancellation of leases (1,046,877)         - - -

Unrealized (gain) loss on exchange rates 1,250,023          (2,050,268)         1,280,957          (2,433,916)         

Gain on sale of other financial assets (654,039)            - (654,039)            -

Gain on sale of available-for-sale securities - (880,676)            - (880,676)            

Unrealized loss on revaluation of securities held for trading - 281,200             - -

Unrealized gain on revaluation of other current financial assets (1,348,909)         - (1,261,034)         -

Loss from liquidation of a joint venture - 1,679,128          - 1,679,128          

Employee benefit expenses 4,722,436          6,592,600          4,229,481          6,373,104          

Interest income (299,879)            (540,317)            (1,296,667)         (407,772)            

Finance costs 18,084,344        26,301,612        15,971,464        23,676,017        

Profit from operations before changes in operating assets and liabilities 518,498,635      576,483,622      561,961,118      607,060,536      

Operating assets (increase) decrease

Trade and other current receivables 476,735,073      (124,191,280)     536,409,734      (189,242,104)     

Inventories 42,100,475        115,459,999      14,091,989        121,436,184      

Other current assets 19,036,137        9,117,745          28,429,299        10,659,909        

Other non-current assets 27,445,811        (10,120,559)       9,487,119          (9,639,525)         

Operating liabilities increase (decrease)

Trade and other current payables (37,908,885)       (63,395,032)       (15,465,972)       (33,302,705)       

Other current liabilities (7,206,732)         32,376,922        (13,911,137)       29,423,407        

Other non-current liabilities 948,285             - - -

Employee benefit obligations paid (1,462,066)         (468,000)            (1,104,570)         (468,000)            

Cash generated by operations 1,038,186,733   535,263,417      1,119,897,580   535,927,702      

Income tax paid (31,096,451)       (46,679,314)       (31,200,191)       (47,540,311)       

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,007,090,282   488,584,103      1,088,697,389   488,387,391      

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

SEPARATE

UNIT : BAHT

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS  OF  CASH  FLOWS

FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  DECEMBER  31,  2020

CONSOLIDATED



NOTES

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

2020 2019 2020 2019

Cash flows from investing activities

Advance payments for purchases of fixed and intangible assets (11,216,389)       (16,984,280)       (10,349,506)       (7,897,804)         

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed and intangible assets 5.2.1 (120,416,319)     (98,899,373)       (109,683,179)     (67,732,522)       

Proceeds from sales of fixed assets and intangible assets 5,905,037          11,866,955        1,058,266          -

Proceeds from liquidation of a joint venture - 28,151,999        - 28,320,872        

Cash paid for acquisition of available-for-sale securities - (369,634,633)     - (369,634,633)     

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities - 367,000,000      - 367,000,000      

Cash paid for acquisition of other financial assets (770,000,000)     - (770,000,000)     -

Proceeds from sales of other financial assets 505,000,000      - 505,000,000      -

Cash paid for short-term loans to a subsidiary 5.2.2 - - (99,500,000)       (5,159,700)         

Cash repayment from loans to a subsidiary 5.2.2 - - - 241,417             

Interest received 299,879             540,317             1,296,667          407,772             

Net cash used in investing activities (390,427,792)     (77,959,015)       (482,177,752)     (54,454,598)       

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash repayments for short-term borrowings from financial

  institutions 5.2.4 (3,467,707,887)  (3,606,247,426)  (3,458,706,612)  (3,599,747,426)  

Proceeds from short-term borrowings from financial institutions 5.2.4 3,303,253,690   3,579,692,430   3,292,252,415   3,565,192,430   

Cash repayments for short-term borrowings from a director 5.2.4 (10,000,000)       - - -

Proceeds from short-term borrowings from a director 5.2.4 - 10,000,000        - -

Cash repayments for short-term borrowing 5.2.4 - (4,258,007)         - -

Proceeds from long-term borrowing 5.2.4 4,506,556          - - -

Cash repayments for liabilities under lease agreements 5.2.4 (24,096,105)       (314,143)            (6,681,880)         -

Dividends paid 5.2.3 (358,674,552)     (383,388,944)     (358,674,552)     (383,388,944)     

Interest paid (17,626,033)       (27,199,786)       (16,106,730)       (23,821,634)       

Net cash used in financing activities (570,344,331)     (431,715,876)     (547,917,359)     (441,765,574)     

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes (36,654)              4,316,706          - -

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 46,281,505        (16,774,082)       58,602,278        (7,832,781)         

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1, 162,298,035      179,072,117      130,928,093      138,760,874      

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 208,579,540      162,298,035      189,530,371      130,928,093      

Notes to the financial statements from an integral part of these statements

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

SEPARATE

STATEMENTS  OF  CASH  FLOWS  (CONTINUED)

FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  DECEMBER  31,  2020
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CONSOLIDATED



 

 

 

TAOKAENOI  FOOD  &  MARKETING  PUBLIC  COMPANY  LIMITED  AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 

FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  DECEMBER  31,  2020 

1. GENERAL  INFORMATION  AND  THE  OPERATION  OF  THE  COMPANY 

Taokaenoi Food & Marketing Public Company Limited ( the “Company”)  was incorporated 

under the Thai Civil and Commercial Code on September 21, 2004. Subsequently, on                 

May 10, 2013, the Company was transformed into Public Company Limited. The address of its 

registered office is at 12/1 Moo 4, Tambon Na Mai, Amphur Lad Lum Kaew, Pathumthani. 

The Company’s major and ultimate shareholder is Peeradechapan Holding Company 

Limited, which was registered in Thailand, holding 26.09% of the Company’s share capital. 

The Company is the parent company within the group of companies.  The principal 

business activities are manufacturing and distribution of fried, grilled, and baked seaweed 

and seaweed snacks. Details of the Group’s subsidiaries as at December 31, 2020 and 

2019 are as follows: 

Subsidiaries Business type Country of Percentage of shareholdings (%) 

  registration As at December 31,  

   2020 2019 

Taokaenoi Restaurant & Franchise  Distribution of snacks  Thailand 100.00 100.00 

Company Limited and souvenirs,     

 and restaurant business    

     

Taokaenoi Care Company Limited Distribution of snacks Thailand 100.00 100.00 

     

NCP Trading & Supply Company Limited Manufacturing and      

 distribution of    

 seasoning powder  Thailand 100.00 100.00 

TAOKAENOI USA, Inc. Distribution of United States   

 seaweed snacks  of America 91.21 91.21 

The Coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic is continuing to evolve, resulting in an 

economic slowdown and adverse impact on most businesses and industries. This situation 

may bring uncertainties and have an impact on the environment in which the group operates. 

Nevertheless, the Group’s management has continued to monitor the ongoing situation and 

regularly assessed the financial impact in respect of the valuation of assets, provisions and 

contingent liabilities. 

2. BASIS  FOR  PREPARATION  AND  PRESENTATION  OF  THE CONSOLIDATED  AND  

SEPARATE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  

2.1 The Group and the Company maintain their accounting records in Thai Baht and 

prepare their statutory financial statements in the Thai language in conformity with 

Thai Financial Reporting Standards and accounting practices generally accepted in 

Thailand. 
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2.2 The Group’s and the Company’s financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the Thai Accounting Standard (“TAS”) No. 1 “Presentation of 

Financial Statements”, which was effective for financial periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2020, and the Regulation of the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) 

dated October 2, 2017, regarding “The Preparation and Submission of Financial 

Statements and Reports for the Financial Position and Results of Operations of the 

Listed Companies B.E. 2560” and the Notification of the Department of Business 

Development regarding “The Brief Particulars in the Financial Statements (No. 3) 

B.E. 2563” dated December 26, 2019, which was effective for financial periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2019 onwards. 

The accounting standards adopted by the Company may not be in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in other countries because the financial 

statements of the Company are not intended to present the financial position, results 

of operations and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and accounting 

practices generally accepted in countries other than Thailand. Accordingly, the 

financial statements have not been designed for those who are not familiar with 

accounting principles and accounting practices generally accepted in Thailand. 

For the convenience of readers, an English translation of the financial statements has 

been prepared from Thai language statutory financial statements which are issued 

for domestic financial reporting purposes. In the event of any conflict or interpretation 

difference between two different languages, the Thai version of consolidated and 

separate financial statements prepared in accordance with Thailand laws supersedes. 

2.3 The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention 

except as disclosed in the significant accounting policies (see Note 3). 

2.4 The consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at December 31, 

2019, presented herein for comparison, have been derived from the consolidated and 

separate financial statements of the Company for the year then ended which had 

been previously audited. 

2.5 Thai Financial Reporting Standards affecting the presentation and disclosure in                    

the current year’s financial statements 

During the year, the Group has adopted the revised and new financial reporting 

standards and guidelines on accounting issued by the Federation of Accounting 

Professions which become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2020. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the 

corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards, with most of the 

changes directed towards revision of wording and terminology, and provision of 

interpretations and accounting guidance to users of standards. The adoption of these 

financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Group’s 

financial statements. However, the new standards which become effective for this 

fiscal year and involve changes to key principles are summarized below: 
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2.5.1  Groups of Financial Instruments Standards 

Thai Accounting Standards (“TAS”) 

TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

  
Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) 

TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

  
Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations (“TFRIC”) 

TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 

TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 

These group of Standards make stipulations relating to the classification of 

financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortized 

cost; taking into account the type of instrument, the characteristics of the 

contractual cash flows and the Company’s business model, the calculation 

of impairment using the expected credit loss method, and the concept of 

hedge accounting. These also include stipulations regarding the presentation 

and disclosure of financial instruments. 

In the current year, the Group has initially applied the Groups of Financial 

Instruments Standards. The Group has elected to recognize the cumulative 

effects of the initial application of TFRS 9 as an adjustment to the opening 

balance of retained earnings of the reporting period. 

TFRS 9 introduced new requirements for: 

-  Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities; 

- Impairment of financial assets; and 

- General hedge accounting 

The Group has applied TFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions 

set out in TFRS 9 as follows: 

a)  Classification and measurement of financial assets 

The date of initial application is January 1, 2020. Accordingly, the Group 

has applied the requirements of TFRS 9 to the financial instruments that 

continue to be recognized as at January 1, 2020. The comparative 

information in relation to the financial instruments that continue to be 

recognized as at January 1, 2020 has not been restated. 
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All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of TFRS 9 are 

required to be measured subsequently at amortized cost or fair value on the 

basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and 

the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets, particularly: 

-  Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objectives 

are to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding, are measured subsequently at amortized cost; 

-    Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objectives 

are both to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the debt 

instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding, are measured subsequently at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI); and 

-  All other debt investments and equity investments are measured 

subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

The management of the Company reviewed and assessed the Group’s 

existing financial assets as at January 1, 2020 based on the facts and 

circumstances existing at that date and concluded that the initial application 

of TFRS 9 has had the following impacts on the Group’s financial assets in 

regard to their classifications as described in d). 

b) Impairment of financial assets 

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, TFRS 9 requires an 

expected credit loss model. The expected credit loss model requires the 

Company and its subsidiaries to account for expected credit losses and 

changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect 

changes in credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. In 

other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred 

before credit losses are recognized. 

Specifically, TFRS 9 requires the Company and its subsidiaries to 

recognize a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables. 

The Group has estimated the allowance for expected credit losses in 

accordance with TFRS 9 and noted that the difference is immaterial.  

c) General hedge accounting 

The Group has entered into the forward exchange contracts to reduce the 

risk. The accounting treatment is explained in Note 3.20.  
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d) Financial impact of the initial application of TFRS 9 

The total impacts on the retained earnings and other components of 

shareholder’s equity as at January 1, 2020 are as follows: 

 Unit : Thousand Baht  

 Consolidated  Separate  

 Financial  Financial  

 Statements  Statements  

Unappropriated retained earnings     

Unappropriated retained earnings as at December 31, 2019 449,511  510,960  

Financial assets - fair value through profit or loss - net of tax 34  34  

Unappropriated retained earnings from adoption of TFRS 9 

as at January 1, 2020 449,545 

 

510,994 

 

     

Other components of shareholders’ equity     

Other components of shareholders’ equity as at December 31, 2019 (4,715)  34  

Financial assets - fair value through profit or loss - net of tax (34)  (34)  

Other components of shareholders’equity from adoption of TFRS 9 

as at January 1, 2020 (4,749) 

 

-  

The table below shows information relating to financial assets that have 

been reclassified as a result of the transition to TFRS 9. 

 Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Carrying  Impact from  Carrying  Category 

 amount  application of  amount   

 as at  TFRS 9  as at   

 December 31,    January 1,   

 2019    2020   

Assets        

Temporary investments 7,612  (7,612)  -   

Other current financial assets        

Financial assets measured at fair value              

through profit or loss         

- equity securities -  2,741  2,741  FVTPL 

- open-ended fixed income fund  

(debt securities) -  4,871  4,871  FVTPL 

 7,612  -  7,612   

 

 Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Carrying  Impact from  Carrying  Category 

 amount  application of  amount   

 as at  TFRS 9  as at   

 December 31,    January 1,   

 2019    2020   

Assets        

Temporary investments 4,871  (4,871)  -   

Other current financial assets        

Financial assets measured at fair value              

through profit or loss         

- open-ended fixed income fund  

(debt securities) -  4,871  4,871  FVTPL 

 4,871  -  4,871   
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2.5.2  Thai Financial Reporting Standard 16: Leases (“TFRS 16”) 

In the current year, the Group has applied TFRS 16 that is effective for 

periods that begin on or after January 1, 2020.  

TFRS 16 introduces significant changes to lessee accounting by removing 

the distinction between operating and finance leases and requiring the 

recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for 

all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. In 

contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have 

remained largely unchanged. 

The Group’s management has applied TFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up 

approach which: 

-  Requires the Group to recognize the cumulative effects of the initial 

adoption of TFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening balance of 

retained earnings at the date of the initial application; and 

- Requires the Group not to make retrospective adjustment to the 

comparative information and continues presenting the comparative 

information according to Thai Accounting Standard No. 17 “Leases” 

and Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations No. 4 “Determining 

Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease”. 

a)  Impact of the New Definition of a Lease 

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of 

control. TFRS 16 determines whether a contract contains a lease on the basis 

of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset 

for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the 

focus on “risk and rewards” in TAS 17 and TFRIC 4. 

The Group applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in 

TFRS 16 to all lease contracts entered into or changed on or after January 1, 

2020. In the preparation for the first-time application of TFRS 16, the Group has 

carried out an implementation project, which has shown that the new definition 

in TFRS 16 will not significantly change the scope of contracts that meet the 

definition of a lease of the Group. 

b)  Impact on Lessee Accounting 

Former operating leases 

TFRS 16 changes how the Group accounts for the leases previously classified as 

operating leases under TAS 17, which were off the statement of financial 

position. 
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To apply TFRS 16 to all leases (except as noted below), the Group: 

1)  Recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated and 

separate statements of financial position, initially measured at the present 

value of the future rental fee payments; 

2) Recognizes depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease 

liabilities in the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss; and 

3)  Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented 

in financing activities) and interest (presented in financing activities) in 

the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows. 

Lease incentives (e.g. rent-free periods) are a part of the measurement of 

the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities while under TAS 17 they are 

recognized as a reduction of the rental expenses on a straight line basis. 

Under TFRS 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance 

with Thai Accounting Standard No. 36 “Impairment of Assets”. 

For short-term leases (lease terms of 12 months or less) and leases of  

low-value assets (which include small items of furniture), the Group has 

recognized a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by  

TFRS 16. This expense is presented in “Administrative expenses” in the 

consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss. 

The Group has used the following practical expedients when applying the 

cumulative catch-up approach to the leases previously classified as operating 

leases under TAS 17: 

- The Group has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases 

with reasonably similar characteristics; 

- The Group has adjusted the right-of-use assets at the date of the initial 

application by the amount of provision for onerous leases recognized 

under Thai Accounting Standard No. 37 in the statement of financial 

position immediately before the date of the initial application as an 

alternative to performing an impairment review; 

- The Group has elected not to recognize the right-of-use assets and 

lease liabilities for leases in which the lease term ends within 12 

months form the date of the initial application; 

- The Group has excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of 

the right-of-use assets at the date of the initial application; and 

- The Group has used hindsight when the contract contains options to 

extend or terminate the lease. 
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Former finance leases 

For leases that were classified as finance leases under TAS 17, the carrying 

amount of the leased assets and obligations under finance leases measured 

under TAS 17 is reclassified to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, 

respectively, without any adjustments, except in cases where the Group has 

elected to apply the low-value lease recognition exemption. 

The right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are accounted for applying TFRS 16 

from January 1, 2020 onwards. 

c) Impact on Lessor Accounting 

TFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. 

Under TFRS 16, a lessor continues to classify leases as either finance 

leases or operating leases and account for those two types of leases 

separately. 

However, TFRS 16 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, 

particularly regarding how a lessor manages the risks arising from its 

residual interest in the outstanding leased assets. 

d) Financial Impact of the Initial Application of TFRS 16 

The Group recognized lease liabilities in relation to leases which had 

previously been classified as operating leases under the principles of TAS 17. 

The right-of-use assets were measured at amount equal to the lease 

liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 

relating to that lease recognized in the statement of financial position 

immediately before the date of the initial application. These lease liabilities 

were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, 

discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rates. The weighted 

average incremental borrowing rate of the lessees applied to the lease 

liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position as at January 1, 

2020 is 2.5%. 

The following table shows the operating lease commitments disclosed under 

TAS 17 as at December 31, 2019, discounted using the incremental borrowing 

rate at the date of the initial application and the lease liabilities recognized in the 

statement of financial position at the date of the initial application. 
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Impacts as at January 1, 2020 are as follows: 

Unit: Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated 

Financial 

Statements 

 Separate 

Financial 

Statements 

    

Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2019 155,055  58,541 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (23,333)  (23,894) 

Effects of discounting the above amounts (4,643)  (2,389) 

Finance lease liabilities recognized under TAS 17    

as at December 31, 2019 2  - 

Lease liabilities recognized as at January 1, 2020 127,081  32,258 

    

    

Right-of-use assets recognized as at January 1, 2020 127,081  32,258 

Reclassified to right-of-use assets:    

Prepaid rental expenses 3,194  - 

Accrued rental payments (3,323)  (2,282) 

Right-of-use assets as at January 1, 2020 126,952  29,976 

2.6 In addition, the Federation of Accounting Professions has announced Accounting 

Treatment Guidances which have been announced in the Royal Gazette on April 22, 

2020. The details are as follows: 

Accounting Treatment Guidance on “The Temporary Relief Measures for Additional 

Accounting Alternatives to Alleviate the Impacts of COVID-19 Outbreak” 

This accounting treatment guidance is the option for all entities applying Financial 

Reporting Standards for Publicly Accountable Entities. Since the preparation of 

financial statements during the period in which the COVID-19 situation is still highly 

uncertain as at the end of the reporting period, which may cause the entities’ 

management to use the critical judgment in the estimation or the measurement and 

recognition of accounting transactions, the objectives of this accounting treatment 

guidance are to alleviate some of the impacts of the application of certain financial 

reporting standards, and to provide clarification about accounting treatments during 

the period of uncertainty relating to this situation. Entities can apply this accounting 

treatment guidance to the preparation of financial statements with a reporting period 

ending between January 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020. 

The Group has elected to apply the following temporary relief measures: 

- Not to account for any reduction in lease payments by lessors as a lease 

modification, with the lease liabilities that come due in each period reduced in 

proportion to the reduction and depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on 

lease liabilities recognized in each period reversed in proportion to the reduction, 

with any differences recognized in the statement of profit or loss for the year 

ended December 31, 2020; 

- Not to consider the COVID-19 situation as an indication that an asset may 

be impaired in accordance with TAS 36; and 

- Not to use information relating to the COVID-19 situation that may affect the 

cash flow forecasts in testing goodwill for impairment. 
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2.7 Amendment on Thai Financial Reporting Standard No.16 “Leases” 

TFRS 16 has been amended for the Rent Concessions related to COVID-19, which 

is effective from 1 June 2020 with earlier application permitted. The amendment 

permits lessees, as a practical expedient, not to assess whether rent concessions 

that occur as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and meet specified 

conditions are lease modifications and, instead, to account for those rent 

concessions as if they were not lease modifications. In addition, the revised TFRS 

16 also added the requirements for the temporary exception arising from interest 

rate benchmark reform, which an entity shall apply these amendments for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier application 

permitted. This revised TFRS 16 has been announced in the Royal Gazette on 

January 27, 2021. 

2.8 Thai Financial Reporting Standards announced in the Royal Gazette but not yet effective 

The Federation of Accounting Professions has issued the Notification regarding Thai 

Accounting Standards, Thai Financial Reporting Standards, Thai Accounting 

Standards Interpretation and Thai Financial Reporting Standard Interpretation, which 

have been announced in the Royal Gazette and will be effective for the financial 

statements with reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021 onwards. 

These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding 

International Financial Reporting Standards, with most of the changes directed 

towards revisions to references to the Conceptual Framework in TFRSs, except for the 

revisions of definitions and accounting requirements as follows: 

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 

The revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting consisted of the revised 

definitions and recognition criteria of asset and liability as well as new guidance on 

measurement, derecognition of asset and liability, and presentation and disclosure. In 

addition, this Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting clearly clarifies 

management’s stewardship of the entity’s economic resources, prudence, and 

measurement uncertainty of financial information. 

Definition of Business 

The revised Thai Financial Reporting Standard No. 3 “Business Combinations” 

clearly clarifies the definition of business and introduce an optional concentration test. 

Under the optional concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not 

considered a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is 

concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets. This revised 

financial reporting standard requires a prospective method for such amendment. 

Earlier application is permitted. 
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Definition of Materiality 

The revised definition of materiality resulted in the amendment of Thai Accounting 

Standards No. 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and Thai Accounting Standards 

No. 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”, including 

other financial reporting standards which refer to materiality. This amendment is 

intended to make the definition of materiality to comply with the Conceptual 

Framework which requires a prospective method for such amendment. Earlier 

application is permitted. 

Interest Rate Reform 

Due to the interest rate reform, there are the amendments of specific hedge accounting 

requirements in Thai Financial Reporting Standard No. 9 “Financial Instruments” and 

Thai Financial Reporting Standard No. 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. 

The Group’ management will adopt the relevant TFRSs in the preparation of the 

Group’s financial statements when they become effective. The Group’s management 

is in the process of assessing the impact of these TFRSs on the financial statements of 

the Group in the period of initial application. 

3. SIGNIFICANT  ACCOUNTING  POLICIES 

Significant accounting policies are as follows:  

3.1 Basis for preparation of consolidated financial statements 

a) The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company’s and its 

subsidiaries’ financial statements. The Company is deemed to have control 

over an investee or subsidiary if it has rights, or is exposed, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the investee, and has the ability to direct the 

activities that significantly affect the amount of its returns. 

If facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 

elements of control listed above, the Group reassesses whether or not it 

controls an investee. 

b) Subsidiaries are fully consolidated, from the date on which the Company 

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such control 

ceases. 

c) The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same 

accounting period and significant accounting policies as the Company. 

d) The assets and liabilities in the financial statements of overseas subsidiary 

companies are translated into Baht using the exchange rate prevailing at the 

end of the reporting period, and revenues and expenses are translated using 

monthly average exchange rates. The resulting differences are shown under the 

caption of “Exchange differences on translating financial statement” in the 

statements of changes in shareholders’ equity. 



 

- 12 - 

 

 

 

e) Material balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries 

have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements. 

f) Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of 

the subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in 

the consolidated profit or loss and within equity in the consolidated statement of 

financial position. 

3.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and all types of deposits at 

financial institutions with the original maturities of three months or less from the 

date of acquisition, excluding deposits at financial institutions used as collateral. 

3.3 Trade and other current receivables 

a) Policies applicable prior to January 1, 2020 

Trade and other current receivables are stated at the net realizable value. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for the estimated losses that may be 

incurred in collection of receivables. The allowance is generally based on 

collection experience and analysis of debt aging. 

b) Policies applicable from January 1, 2020 

Trade and other current receivables are stated at their invoice value less 

allowance for expected credit losses. 

The allowance for expected credit losses has been disclosed in Note 3.20. 

3.4 Inventories 

Finished goods and work in process are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable 

value. The cost of inventories is measured using the standards cost method, which 

approximates actual cost under the first-in, first-out method and includes raw 

material costs, labour cost and attributable factory overheads. 

Merchandise inventories, raw materials, ingredients, packing materials and spare 

parts and factory supplies are valued at the lower of cost under the first-in, first-out 

method or net realizable value and are charged to production costs whenever 

consumed. 

3.5 Investments 

Policies applicable prior to January 1, 2020 

a) Investments in securities held for trading are stated at fair value. Changes in the 

fair value of these securities are recorded in profit or loss.  

b) Investments in available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value. Changes in the 

fair value of these securities are recorded in other comprehensive income, and will 

be recorded in profit or loss when the securities are sold.  
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c) Investments in debt securities, both due within one year and expected to be held to 

maturity, are recorded at amortized cost. The premium/discount on debt securities 

is amortized/accreted by the effective rate method with the amortized/accreted 

amount presented as an adjustment to the interest income. Debt securities are 

classified as held to maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to 

hold them to maturity. 

d) Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method. 

e) Investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture are accounted for in the separate 

financial statements using the cost method.  

The fair value of unit trusts is determined from their net asset value. The fair value of debt 

securities is determined based on yield rates quoted by the Thai Bond Market Association.   

The weighted average method is used for computation of the cost of investments. 

In the event the Group reclassifies an investment from one type to another, such 

investment will be readjusted to its fair value as at the reclassification date. The 

difference between the carrying amount of the investment and the fair value on the 

date of reclassification is recorded in profit or loss or as other components of 

shareholders’ equity, depending on the type of investment that is reclassified.  

On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the investment is recognized in profit or loss. 

Policies applicable from January 1, 2020 is explained in Note 3.20 

3.6 Investment property 

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less allowance 

for loss on impairment, if any. 

On disposal of investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss in the period when 

the asset is derecognized. 

3.7 Property, plant and equipment 

Land is stated at cost. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and allowance for loss on impairment of assets, if any. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on a 

straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 

Land improvements  9 years 
Buildings and building improvements 20 years and based on the remaining period of 

land leases for those acquired since 2015 
onwards 

Machinery and equipment  5 years and 10 years 
Furniture and office equipment  3  years and 5 years 
Motor vehicles   5 years 
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Depreciation is included in income determination.  

No depreciation is provided for land and assets under installation and construction. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no 

future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 

arising from disposal of an asset is included in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognized. 

3.8 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 

an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended 

use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other 

borrowing costs are expensed in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist 

of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of 

funds. 

3.9 Other intangible assets other than goodwill 

Other intangible assets other than goodwill are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortization and allowance for loss on impairment of assets, if any.  

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a systematic basis over the 

economic useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 

intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and method of such 

intangible assets are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amortization is 

charged to profit or loss.  

The amortization expense of intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated on a 

straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 

Computer software 5 years and 10 years 

Franchise 10 years 

License 2 years 

No amortization is provided for computer software under implementation. 

The Group does not amortize intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, which 

consist of trademarks. However, they are tested for impairment annually, either 

individually or at the cash generating unit level. Assessment of the indefinite useful 

lives of the intangible assets is conducted annually. 

3.10 Goodwill 

Goodwill is initially recorded equals the excess of cost of business combination over 

the fair value of the net assets acquired. If the fair value of the net assets acquired 

exceeds the cost of business combination, the excess is immediately recognized as 

gain in profit or loss. 

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. 
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For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired from a business 

combination is allocated to each of the Company’s cash generating units (or group of 

cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the combination. The Company 

estimates the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-

generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 

recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses relating to goodwill is not reversed in 

future periods. 

3.11 Revenue Recognition 

Sales of goods 

Sales of goods are recognized when the control of the goods has been transferred, 

being when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific location. The 

Group has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, 

has the primary responsibility when onselling the goods and bears the risks of 

obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. A receivable is recognized by the 

Group when the goods are delivered to the customers as this represents the point in 

time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of 

time is required before payment is due. Sales are the invoiced value, excluding value-

added tax of goods supplied after deducting goods returns, discounts and allowances. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis baed on the effective interest rate. 

Dividend 

Dividends are recognized when the right to receive the dividends is established. 

3.12 Related party transactions 

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control or are controlled by the 

Company, whether directly or indirectly, or are under common control with the 

Company.   

They also include associates, and individuals or enterprises which directly or 

indirectly own a voting interest in the Company that gives them significant influence 

over the Company, key management personnel, directors and officers with authority 

over the planning and direction of the Company’s operations. 

3.13 Leases 

The Group has applied TFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach. Therefore, 

the comparative information has not been restated and is presented under TAS 17. 

The details of the accounting policies under both TAS 17 and TFRS 16 are 

presented separately below: 
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a) Policies applicable from January 1, 2020 

The Group as Lessee 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the 

contract. The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and corresponding lease 

liabilities with respect to all lease arrangements, except for short-term leases (with 

lease terms of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets, such as small items 

of office equipment. For these leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as 

operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the terms the leases unless a more 

effective systematic basis representating the time pattern in which economic benefits 

from the leased assets is applied. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments 

that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the rate implicit in the 

lease. If such rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental 

borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

- Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease 

incentives; 

- Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured 

using the index or rate at the commencement date; 

- The amount expected to be paid by the lessee under residual value gurantees; 

- The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to 

exercise the options; and 

- Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the 

exercise of the option to terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is presented as a separate item in the consolidated and separate 

statements of financial position. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to 

reflect the interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by 

reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made according to the 

lease. 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to 

the related right-of-use asset) whenever: 

- The lease term is changed or there is a significant event or change in 

circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of the exercise of the 

purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 

the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate; or 
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- The lease payments are changed as a result of the change in an index or rate or 

the change in the expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which 

case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments 

using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments are changed as a 

result of the change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount 

rate is used); or 

- A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a 

separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease 

term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a 

revised discount rate as at the effective date of the modification. 

The Group did not make any adjustments during the periods presented. 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease 

liability and lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any 

lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. The right-of-use assets are 

subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and losses from 

accumulated impairment. 

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs of dismanting and removing a 

leased asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset 

to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is 

recognized and measured under TAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a 

right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset unless those 

costs are incurred in the production of inventories. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful 

life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers the ownership of the underlying asset 

or the cost of the right-of-use asset, which reflects that the Group expects to exercise 

the purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life 

of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the 

lease. 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate item in the consolidated and 

separate statements of financial position. 

The Group applies TAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and 

accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the “Property, Plant and 

Equipment” policy. 

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the 

measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments 

are recognized as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers 

those payments occurs and are included in “Administrative expenses” in profit or 

loss. 

As a practical expedient, TFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease 

components, and account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a 

single arrangement. The Group has used this practical expedient. 



 

- 18 - 

 

 

 

The Group as Lessor 

Leases in which the Group is the lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. 

Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership to the lessee, such lease is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are 

classified as operating leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables at the 

amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated 

to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net 

investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

b) Policies applicable prior to January 1, 2020 

The Company as Lessee 

Lease of asset which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 

the lessee is classified as finance lease. Finance lease is capitalized at the lower of the 

fair value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 

outstanding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are recognized as liability, while 

the interest element is charged to profit or loss over the lease period. An asset acquired 

under a finance lease is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. 

Lease which does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 

the lessee is classified as operating lease. Operating lease payments are recognized as 

expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease period. 

3.14 Transactions in foreign currencies 

The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Baht, which is 

also the Company’s functional currency. Items of each entity included in the 

consolidated financial statements are measured using the functional currency of that 

entity. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rates ruling 

at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the 

reporting period. Gain and loss on exchange is included in income determination. 
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The translation of foreign financial statements into Baht for the purpose of preparing 

the consolidated financial statements is determined using the following rates: 

a. Assets and liabilities are retranslated at the closing rates at the statements of 

financial position date. 

b.  Shareholders’ equity is retranslated at the rates prevailing on the transaction dates; 

and 

c. Revenues and expenses are retranslated at the average rates during the year. 

Gain (loss) on translation of foreign financial statements is shown under shareholders’ 

equity. 

3.15 Impairment of assets 

The carrying amounts of the assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any indication exists, 

the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated. 

The Company recognizes impairment loss when the recoverable amount of an asset is 

lower than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher amount which is 

either the asset’s fair value less cost to sell or its value in use. The Company 

determines the value by estimating the present value of future cash flows generated by 

the asset, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate which reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset. In 

determining the fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

The calculation reflects the amount that the Company could obtain from the disposal 

of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, 

after deducting the costs of disposal.  

The Company recognizes impairment loss as an expense in the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income unless it reverses a previous revaluation 

credited to equity and it is subsequently impaired in which case it is charged to the 

statements of comprehensive income. 

Reversal of impairment loss 

The Company reverses impairment loss of asset which had been recognized in the 

prior periods, if there is an indication that the impairment may no longer exist or may 

have decreased. The recoverable amount must be estimated. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods in respect of other non-financial 

assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication that 

the impairment will decrease or no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if there has 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 

loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’ s carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 

amortization, as if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
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3.16 Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognized 

as expenses when incurred. 

Post-employment benefits 

Defined contribution plans 

The Company and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund 

is monthly contributed by employees and by the Company. The fund’s assets are held 

in  a separate trust fund and the Company’s contributions are recognized as expenses 

when incurred.  

Defined benefit plans 

The Group has obligations in respect of the severance payments that must be made to 

employees upon retirement under the labor law. The Group treats these severance 

payment obligations as a defined benefit plan.  

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally 

qualified independent actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the Projected Unit 

Credit Method.  

Actuarial gain or loss arising from the defined benefit plan is recognized immediately 

in other comprehensive income. 

3.17 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of                

a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 

the amount of the obligation. 

3.18 Income tax 

Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and 

deferred tax. 

Current tax 

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to 

the taxation authorities, based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax 

legislation. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, 

using the tax rates enacted at the end of the reporting period.  



 

- 21 - 

 

 

 

The Group recognizes deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences but 

recognizes deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses 

carried forward to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 

available against which such deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried 

forward can be utilized. 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews and reduces the carrying amount of 

deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

The Group records deferred tax directly to shareholders’ equity if the tax relates to 

items that are recorded directly to shareholders’ equity. 

3.19 Forward exchange contracts 

Policies applicable prior to January 1, 2020 

Receivables and payables arising from forward exchange contracts are translated into 

Baht at the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Unrealized 

gains and losses from the translation are included in profit or loss. Premiums or 

discounts on forward exchange contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over 

the contract periods. 

Policies applicable from January 1, 2020 is explained in Note 3.20 

3.20 Financial instruments 

Policies applicable from January 1, 2020 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Group’s consolidated 

statements of financial position when the Group becomes a party according to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial 

assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities 

measured at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair 

value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 

recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 

assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized 

immediately in profit or loss. 

Financial assets 

All recognized financial assets are measured subsequently at amortized cost or fair 

value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 
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Classification of financial assets 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at 

amortized cost: 

- The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset raise, on specified dates, cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at 

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

- The financial asset is held within a business model whose objectives are to 

collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets; and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset raise, on specified dates, cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. 

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value 

through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

(1) Amortized cost and effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a 

debt instrument and allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss and included in the “finance income 

- interest income” line item. 

(2) Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortized cost 

or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL: 

• Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL; and 

• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortized cost criteria or the FVTOCI 

criteria are classified as at FVTPL. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 

period, with any fair value gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. 
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Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt 

instruments that are measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI, trade receivables and 

contract assets. The amount of the expected credit losses is updated at each reporting 

period date to reflect changes in credit risk since the initial recognition of the respective 

financial instruments. 

The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The expected 

credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based 

on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 

specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both 

current and future direction forecasts at the reporting date, including time value of 

money where appropriate. 

(i) Write-off policy 

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that 

the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 

recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has 

entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables when 

the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial 

assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the 

Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where 

appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognized in profit or loss. 

(ii) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of 

default, loss given default (e.g. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) 

and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and 

loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking 

information. The exposure at default for financial assets is represented by the 

asset’s gross carrying amount as at the reporting date. For financial guarantee 

contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting 

date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the 

future. The default date is determined based on the historical trend. The 

Group tries to understand the specific future financing needs of the debtors, 

and other relevant forward-looking information. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the 

cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 

the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its 

retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 

pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset and 

a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received. 
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On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortized cost, the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and 

receivable is recognized in profit or loss.  

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments which are foreign exchange 

forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risks. 

Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is 

entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. 

The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the 

derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument in the event that the 

timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 

relationship. 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset whereas a 

derivative with a negative fair value is recognized as a financial liability. Derivatives are 

not offset in the financial statements unless the Group has both legal right and intention to 

offset. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the 

remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be 

realized or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or 

current liabilities. 

3.21 Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid for transferring 

a liability, which is a transaction that occurs in the ordinary course of business between the 

buyer and the seller (market participants) at the measurement date. The Group applies a 

quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets and liabilities that are 

required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting standards. In case of 

no active market for an identical asset or liability or when a quoted market price is not 

available, the Group measures fair value using valuation techniques that are appropriate in 

the circumstances and maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs related to assets 

and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 

statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on 

categories of input to be used in the fair value measurement as follows: 

Level 1  -  Use of quoted market prices in an observable active market for such assets 

or liabilities  

Level 2  -  Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly 

or indirectly 

Level 3  -  Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows  

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether transfers that 

occurred between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at 

the end of the reporting period that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis are 

necessary. 
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4. CRITICAL  ACCOUNTING  JUDGEMENTS  AND  KEY  SOURCE  OF ESTIMATION  UNCERTAINLY 

4.1 Use of management’s judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Thai Financial 

Reporting Standards (TFRSs) requires the Group’s management to exercise 

various judgments in order to determine the accounting policies, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Although these 

estimates are based on management’s reasonable consideration of current events, 

actual results may differ from these estimates. Significant judgements and 

estimates are as follows: 

Reducing inventory cost to net realizable value 

In determining a reduction of inventory cost to net realizable value, the 

management makes judgement and estimates of net realizable value of inventory 

based on the amount of the inventories that are expected to be realized. The 

estimate takes into consideration fluctuations of the selling price or cost directly 

relating to events occurring after the end of the reporting period. Also, the 

management makes judgement and estimates of expected loss from stock 

obsolescence based upon the aging profile of inventories and the prevailing 

economic condition.  

Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation 

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to 

make estimates of the useful lives and residual values of plant and equipment and 

to review the estimate useful lives and residual values when there are any changes. 

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment 

for impairment on a periodical basis and records impairment losses when it is 

determined that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. This 

requires judgement regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to 

the assets subject to the review. 

Impairment of investments 

The carrying amounts of the investments in subsidiaries are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period. Management estimates the recoverable amount from its 

value in use, which requires management to make estimate of cash flows to be 

generated and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 

value of those cash flows. 

Goodwill 

The initial recognition and measurement of goodwill as at the acquisition date, and 

the subsequent impairment testing, require management to make estimates of cash 

flows to be generated by the assets or the cash generating units and to choose a 

suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
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Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and 

unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the temporary differences and losses can be utilized. 

Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of 

deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level 

of estimated future taxable profits. 

Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans 

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial 

techniques. Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including 

discount rate, future salary increase rate, mortality rate and employee turnover 

rate. 

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The Group have estimates with the assumptions concerning the future. Although 

these estimates are based on management’s reasonable consideration of current 

events, actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined 

below. 

4.2.1 Fair value measurements and valuation processes 

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for 

financial reporting purposes. The Board of Directors of the Company has set 

up a valuation committee, which is headed by the Chief Financial Officer, to 

determine appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value 

measurements. 

In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses market-

observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not 

available, the Group uses other observable information either directly or 

indirectly. 

Information about valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the 

fair value of various assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 33. 

4.2.2 Calculation of recoverable amount 

In the calculation of recoverable amount, the Group’s management estimated 

the future cash flows discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash 

inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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4.2.3  Impairment of goodwill 

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value 

in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The 

value-in-use calculation requires the Group’s management to estimate the 

future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and requires 

a suitable discount rate for calculating the present value. If the actual future 

cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. 

4.2.4 Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories 

The Group has provided allowance for obsolete and slow-moving 

inventories based on management’s best estimate of net realizable value of 

damaged, obsolete or deteriorated inventories and review of the aging 

analysis at the end of each reporting period. 

5. SUPPLEMENTAL  DISCLOSURE  OF  CASH  FLOW  INFORMATION 

5.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, consist of: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

        

Cash on hand 950  1,678  164  136 

Bank deposits - savings and current accounts 207,630  160,620  189,366  130,792 

 208,580  162,298  189,530  130,928 

5.2 Non-cash transactions are as follows: 

5.2.1 Cash payments for acquisition of fixed and intangible assets for the years 

ended December 31, are as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht  
Consolidated 

 
Separate  

Financial Statements 
 

Financial Statements  
2020 

 
2019 

 
2020 

 
2019 

Liabilities incurred from acquisition of         

fixed and intangible assets as at January 1, 31,512  22,915  27,204  19,804 

Add    Purchase of fixed and intangible assets        

                 during the years 134,878  125,444  125,598  82,684 

Less    Cash payments (120,416)  (98,899)  (109,683)  (67,732) 

Less    Advance payments for purchase of        

         fixed assets paid in the prior year (9,449)  (17,948)  (8,154)  (7,552) 

Liabilities incurred from acquisition of         

fixed and intangible assets as at December 31, 36,525  31,512  34,965  27,204 
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5.2.2 Significant non-cash items for the years ended December 31, are as follows: 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance  Cash flows  Balance 

 as at January 1, 2020  from investing activities  as at December 31, 2020 

      
Loan to a subsidiary -  (99,500)  (99,500) 

As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance  Cash flows  Non-cash changes  Balance 

 as at 

January 1, 

 from 

investing  

 Gain on 

exchange rate 

 Other 

changes 

 as at 

December 31,  

 2019  activities      2019 

          
Loan to a subsidiary (11,338)  (4,918)  (85)  16,341  - 

In April 2019, the Company has converted this loan of USD 507,000 

(equivalent to Baht 16.34 million) to 7,800 ordinary shares of TAOKAENOI 

USA, Inc. at the price of USD 65 per share. 

5.2.3 Dividends paid for the years ended December 31, are as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht  
Consolidated 

 
Separate  

Financial Statements 
 

Financial Statements  
2020 

 
2019 

 
2020 

 
2019 

        

Accrued dividends as at January 1,  3,530  519  3,530  519 

Add   Dividends declared during the years 358,800  386,400  358,800  386,400 

Less   Paid during the years (358,675)  (383,389)  (358,675)  (383,389) 

Accrued dividends as at December 31, 3,655  3,530  3,655  3,530 

5.2.4 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

Changes in the liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 

and non-cash changes classified as financing activities in the statements of 

cash flows, are as follows: 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balance  Cash flows  Non-cash changes Balance 

 as at 

January 1, 

 from 

financing  

 Translation 

differences 

 Effects of the 

application  

 Increase 

(Decrease) 

 Other 

changes(1) 

 as at 

December 31, 

 2020  activities  of financial  of the new      2020 

     statements  accounting       

       standards       

Short-term borrowings                

from financial institutions 854,672  (164,455)  -  -  -  -  690,217 

Short-term borrowings from  

  a director 

 

10,000 

 

(10,000)  -  - 

 

-  -  - 

Short-term borrowings 14,056  -  (80)  -  612  -  14,588 

Long-term borrowing -  4,507  -  -  -  -  4,507 

Lease liabilities 2  (24,096)  31  127,079  4,234  (18,910)  88,340 

Total 878,730  (194,044)  (49)  127,079  4,846  (18,910)  797,652 

(1) Such changes occurred from the reduction in lease payments according to the temporary relief measures regarding 
the impacts of COVID-19. 
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As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balance  Cash flows  Non-cash changes  Balance 

 as at  from  Translation  Other  as at 

 January 1,  financing  differences  changes  December 31, 

 2019  activities  of financial    2019 

     statements     

Short-term borrowings from            

financial institutions 881,227  (26,555)  -  -  854,672 

Short-term borrowings from a director -  10,000  -  -  10,000 

Short-term borrowings 19,127  (4,258)  (813)  -  14,056 

Liabilities under finance lease agreements  317  (315)  -  -  2 

Total 900,671  (21,128)  (813)  -  878,730 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance 

as at 

January 1, 

2020 

 Cash flows 

from 

financing  

activities 

 Effects of the 

application of the 

new accounting 

standards 

 Increase 

(Decrease) 

 Balance 

as at 

December 31,  

2020 

Short-term borrowings from            
financial institutions 846,672  (166,455)  -  -  680,217 

Lease liabilities -  (6,682)  32,258  37,593  63,169 

Total 846,672  (173,137)  32,258  37,593  743,386 

As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance  Cash flows  Non-cash  Balance 

 as at  from financing  changes  as at 

 January 1,  activities    December 31, 

 2019      2019 

Short-term borrowings from          
financial institutions 881,227  (34,555)  -  846,672 

6. OTHER  CURRENT  FINANCIAL  ASSETS  AND  TEMPORARY  INVESTMENTS 

Other current financial assets as at December 31, 2020, consist of (see Note 2.5.1):  

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

 Separate 
Financial Statements 

Other current financial assets    
Financial assets measured at fair value through proft or loss    

- Equity securities 2,830  - 
- Open-ended fixed income fund 271,820  271,820 

Total other current financial assets 274,650  271,820 

Temporary investments as at December 31, 2019, consist of: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 
 Consolidated  

Financial Statements 

 Separate 

Financial Statements 

Investment in securities held for trading    

Equity securities - cost 3,875  - 

Change in fair value (1,134)  - 

Total investment in securities held for trading - fair value 2,741  - 

Investment in available-for-sale securities    

Unit trusts (open-ended fixed income fund) - cost 4,828  4,828 

Change in fair value 43  43 

Total investments in available-for-sale securities - fair value 4,871  4,871 

Total temporary investments 7,612  4,871 
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7. TRADE  AND  OTHER  CURRENT  RECEIVABLES 

Trade and other current receivables as at December 31, consist of: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate  

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Trade receivables        

Related parties 4  

 

-  

 

69,405  130,324 

Other parties 397,904 562,939 375,814 541,711 

Less  Loss allowance (19,795)  (15,612)  (14,781)  (13,319) 

Total trade receivables 378,113  547,327  430,438  658,716 

Other receivables        

Related parties 17  14  855  1,381 

Other parties 3,611  

 

7,172  

 

2,381  5,596 

Total other receivables 3,628 7,186 3,236 6,977 

Accrued income - other parties 7,850 1,000 7,806 1,000 

Prepaid expenses 16,896  24,366  15,432  20,599 

Advance payments for purchase of raw materials 29,801  339,298  29,782  339,244 

Total trade and other current receivables 436,288  919,177  486,694  1,026,536 

Trade receivables as at December 31, classified by aging are as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Trade receivables        

Subsidiaries        

Current 1  -  16,322  36,022 

Overdue        

3 months or less 3  -  31,784  51,103 

Over 3 months up to 6 months -  -  21,299  30,872 

Over 6 months up to 9 months -  -  -  12,182 

Over 9 months -  -  -  145 

Total 4  -  69,405  130,324 

        
Other parties        

Current 320,118  408,781  309,941  396,554 

Overdue        

3 months or less 48,752  128,984  41,638  122,229 

Over 3 months up to 6 months 64  214  49  214 

Over 6 months up to 9 months 55  -  23  - 

Over 9 months 28,915  24,960  24,163  22,714 

Total 397,904  562,939  375,814  541,711 

 397,908  562,939  445,219  672,035 

Less  Loss allowance (19,795)  (15,612)  (14,781)  (13,319) 

Total trade receivables  378,113  547,327  430,438  658,716 

The normal credit term given to customers of the Group ranges from 30 to 90 days. 

In 2020, the Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal 

to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a 

provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of 

the debtor’s current financial position. 
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There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made 

during the current reporting period. 

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group’s 

provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show 

significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss 

allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s 

different customer segments. 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

  Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Trade receivables - collectively assessed (days past due)  Trade receivables  Total 

 Not past due  ≤ 90  91-180  181-270  ≥ 271  Total  - individually   

   days  days  days  days    assessed   

Expected credit loss rate 0.44%  1.45%  -  75.64%  100.00%       

Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default amounts 

not past due 59,605 

 

21,745. 

 

- 

 

31. 

 

19,191. 

 

100,572 

 

297,336 

 

397,908 

Lifetime expected credit loss (265)  (315)  -  (24)   (19,191)  (19,795)  -  (19,795) 

           80,777  297,336  378,113 

 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

  Separate Financial Statements 

 Trade receivables - collectively assessed (days past due)  Trade receivables  Total 

 Not past due  ≤ 90  91-180  181-270  ≥ 271  Total  - individually   

   days  days  days  days    assessed   

Expected credit loss rate 0.29%  0.41%  -  -  100.00%       

Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default amounts 

not past due 50,102 

 

14,658. 

 

- 

 

- 

 

14,574. 

 

79,334.  

 

365,885 

 

445,219 

Lifetime expected credit loss (147)  (60)  -  -  (14,574)  (14,781)  -  (14,781) 

           64,553  365,885  430,438 

The following table shows the movement of lifetime ECL that has been recognized for 

trade receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in TFRS 9. 

Unit: Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

Balance as at January 1, 2020 15,612  13,319 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 4,183  1,462 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 19,795  14,781 
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8. INVENTORIES 

Inventories as at December 31, consist of: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Finished goods 101,397  157,862  72,658  103,527 

Work in process 2,152  2,712  1,843  2,694 

Raw materials 1,046,338  1,060,550  1,036,921  1,047,999 

Packaging materials 102,127  107,107  99,844  104,931 

Spare parts and supplies 15,950  9,709  15,118  9,201 

Goods in transit 27,876  -  27,876  - 

 1,295,840  1,337,940  1,254,260  1,268,352 

Less  Allowance for diminution in value of inventories (37,132)  (5,369)  (31,553)  (3,901) 

 1,258,708  1,332,571  1,222,707  1,264,451 

Cost of inventories recognized as an expense and included in the cost of sales for the years ended 

December 31, consists of the following: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Cost of inventories recognized as an expense in  

  cost of sales: 

       

- Cost of sale of goods 2,927,288  3,807,392  2,838,168  3,591,219 

- Allowance for diminution in value of 

inventories (reversal) 

 

31,763 

  

(20,925) 

  

27,652 

  

(21,349) 

Total 2,959,051  3,786,467  2,865,820  3,569,870 

Movements of the allowance for diminution in value of inventories for the years ended December 31, 

are summarized as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Beginning balances of the year 5,369  26,294  3,901  25,250 

Add  Loss from diminution in value of inventories 33,027  4,819  27,669  2,172 

Less  Reversal due to destruction during the year (1,264)  (25,744)  (17)  (23,521) 

Ending balances of the year 37,132  5,369  31,553  3,901 

9. INVESTMENTS  IN  SUBSIDIARIES 

Investments in subsidiaries recorded by the cost method in the separate financial statements as at 

December 31, consist of: 

 Paid-up share capital Percentage of   Balance (at cost) 

  Shareholding   2020  2019 

  2020 and 2019  Thousand Baht  Thousand Baht 

Subsidiaries       

Taokaenoi Restaurant & Franchise Company Limited Baht 35 million 100.00  35,000  35,000 

Taokanoi Care Company Limited Baht 5 million 100.00  4,543  4,543 

NCP Trading & Supply Company Limited Baht 1 million 100.00  491  491 

TAOKAENOI USA, Inc. USD 4,912,000 91.21  97,428  97,428 

Total investments in subsidiaries    137,462  137,462 
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For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the subsidiaries did not declare dividends. 

As at December 31, 2020, the recoverable amount of investment in TAOKAENOI USA, Inc. was 

determined based on the value in use, calculated using cash flow projections for the next 5 years. 

Key assumptions applied in the calculation of value in use of the assets are summarized below. 

 Percent per annum 

Sales growth rate 28.5 for the first three years 

 10.0 for the forth year onwards 

Long-term growth rate 0.0 

Pre-tax discount rate 9.0 

The management determined the growth rate based on historical operating results, the 

expected growth of such subsidiary and market including the discount rate which is a pre-

tax rate that reflects the specific risk of the business unit. 

10. INVESTMENT  PROPERTY  

The investment property, consisting of land with carrying value amounting to Baht 39.74 

million has fair value amounting to Baht 42.24 million. The fair value was assessed by an 

independent appraiser on July 2, 2020 on the basis of market approach. As at December 31, 

2020, the management believes that there had been no material change in the fair value 

since the assessment date.  

11. PROPERTY,  PLANT  AND  EQUIPMENT  

Property, plant and equipment as at December 31, consist of: 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 
 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Differences on  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  translation of  December 31, 

 2020        financial  2020 

         statements   

Cost             

Land and land improvements 94,314  -  -  -  -  94,314 

Buildings and building improvements 756,629  710  (2,849)  15,932  -  770,422 

Machinery and equipment 492,970  6,028  (1,499)  26,132  -  523,631 

Furniture and office equipment 181,197  8,136  (30,476)  14,789  (1)  173,645 

Vehicles 46,820  700  (2,411)  -  (2)  45,107 

Assets under installation and construction 81,383  106,526  (81)  (56,853)  -  130,975 

Total cost 1,653,313  122,100  (37,316)  -  (3)  1,738,094 

            

Accumulated depreciation            

Land and land improvements (1,877)  (127)  -  -  -  (2,004) 

Buildings and building improvements (177,117)  (54,932)  2,775  -  (1)  (229,275) 

Machinery and equipment (301,554)  (57,387)  1,488  -  -  (357,453) 

Furniture and office equipment (98,376)  (27,272)  17,376  -  5  (108,267) 

Vehicles (31,782)  (6,932)  2,368  -  (15)  (36,361) 

Total accumulated depreciation (610,706)  (146,650)  24,007  -  (11)  (733,360) 

Less  Allowance for impairment of assets (23,862)  -  2,036  -  -  (21,826) 

Property, plant and equipment  1,018,745          982,908 
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As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 
 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Differences on  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  translation of  December 31, 

 2019        financial  2019 

         statements   

Cost             

Land and land improvements 94,314  -  -  -  -  94,314 

Buildings and building improvements 728,339  125  (30,251)  60,728  (2,312)  756,629 

Machinery and equipment 482,174  3,521  (22,605)  31,364  (1,484)  492,970 

Furniture and office equipment 138,479  17,091  (3,436)  29,097  (34)  181,197 

Vehicles 47,127  12  (262)  -  (57)  46,820 

Assets under installation and construction 122,228  80,424  (80)  (121,189)  -  81,383 

Total cost 1,612,661  101,173  (56,634)  -  (3,887)  1,653,313 

            

Accumulated depreciation            

Land and land improvements (1,654)  (223)  -  -  -  (1,877) 

Buildings and building improvements (124,760)  (61,930)  9,350  -  223  (177,117) 

Machinery and equipment (257,721)  (50,987)  7,065  -  89  (301,554) 

Furniture and office equipment (67,003)  (33,449)  2,064  -  12  (98,376) 

Vehicles (24,196)  (7,668)  59  -  23  (31,782) 

Total accumulated depreciation (475,334)  (154,257)  18,538  -  347  (610,706) 

Less  Allowance for impairment of assets (19,517)  (4,345)  -  -  -  (23,862) 

Property, plant and equipment  1,117,810          1,018,745 
 

Depreciation for the years ended December 31, 

2020         Thousand Baht  146,650 

2019         Thousand Baht  154,257 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  December 31, 

 2020        2020 

          

          

Cost           

Land and land improvements 94,314  -  -  -  94,314 

Buildings and building improvements 736,701  -  (2,735)  15,288  749,254 

Machinery and equipment 473,689  3,017  (1,291)  25,412  500,827 

Furniture and office equipment 114,278  5,635  (1,183)  12,837  131,567 

Vehicles 45,523  700  (1,923)  -  44,300 

Assets under installation and construction 80,421  103,990  (81)  (53,537)  130,793 

Total cost 1,544,926  113,342  (7,213)  -  1,651,055 

          

Accumulated depreciation          

Land and land improvements (1,877)  (128)  -  -  (2,005) 

Buildings and building improvements (172,688)  (52,343)  2,736  -  (222,295) 

Machinery and equipment (293,365)  (55,132)  1,279  -  (347,218) 

Furniture and office equipment (70,827)  (17,111)  1,074  -  (86,864) 

Vehicles (30,920)  (6,795)  1,923  -  (35,792) 

Total accumulated depreciation (569,677)  (131,509)  7,012  -  (694,174) 

Less  Allowance for impairment of assets (14,063)  -  -  -  (14,063) 

Property, plant and equipment  961,186        942,818 
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As at December 31, 2019  

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  December 31, 

 2019        2019 

          

          

Cost           

Land and land improvements 94,314  -  -  -  94,314 

Buildings and building improvements 675,848  125  -  60,728  736,701 

Machinery and equipment 438,586  1,435  (3,112)  36,780  473,689 

Furniture and office equipment 102,690  10,967  (1,746)  2,367  114,278 

Vehicles 45,511  12  -  -  45,523 

Assets under installation and construction 120,474  59,896  (74)  (99,875)  80,421 

Total cost 1,477,423  72,435  (4,932)  -  1,544,926 

          

Accumulated depreciation          

Land and land improvements (1,654)  (223)  -  -  (1,877) 

Buildings and building improvements (117,341)  (55,347)  -  -  (172,688) 

Machinery and equipment (242,258)  (54,205)  3,098  -  (293,365) 

Furniture and office equipment (56,396)  (15,850)  1,419  -  (70,827) 

Vehicles (23,547)  (7,373)  -  -  (30,920) 

Total accumulated depreciation (441,196)  (132,998)  4,517  -  (569,677) 

Less  Allowance for impairment of assets (14,063)  - - -  -  (14,063) 

Property, plant and equipment  1,022,164        961,186 

 

 Depreciation for the years ended December 31, 

2020       Thousand Baht  131,509 

2019       Thousand Baht  132,998 

As at December 31, 2020, the carrying amount of had buildings and structures located on 

leased land is Baht 56.2 million (2019: Baht 67.6 million). Under the land lease 

agreements, the Company has to transfer the ownership of the buildings and structures to 

the lessors when the agreements are terminated. 

12. RIGHT-OF-USE  ASSETS  

Right-of-use assets as at December 31, 2020 consist of: 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Effects of initial  Additions  Disposals  Differences on  Balance as at 

 January 1,  application of      translation of  December 31, 

 2020  TFRS 16      financial  2020 

   (see Note 2.5.2)      statements   

Cost             

Land and land improvements -  23,396  19,789  (866)  -  42,319 

Buildings and building improvements -  98,455  18,637  (46,791)  (159)  70,142 

Vehicles -  5,101  1,331  -  -  6,432 

Total cost -  126,952  39,757  (47,657)  (159)  118,893 

              

Accumulated depreciation            

Land and land improvements -  -  (5,635)  866  -  (4,769) 

Buildings and building improvements -  -  (40,788)  15,515  32  (25,241) 

Vehicles -  -  (1,199)  -  -  (1,199) 

Total accumulated depreciation -  -  (47,622)  16,381  32  (31,209) 

Total right-of-use assets  -          87,684 

            

Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2020      Thousand Baht  47,622 
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As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Effects of initial  Additions  Disposals  Balance as at 

 January 1,  application of      December 31, 

 2020  TFRS 16      2020 

   (see Note 2.5.2)       

Cost           

Land and land improvements -  23,396  19,789  (866)  42,319 

Buildings and building improvements -  1,479  19,598  -  21,077 

Vehicles -  5,101  1,331  -  6,432 

Total cost -  29,976  40,718  (866)  69,828 

          

Accumulated depreciation          

Land and land improvements -  -  (5,635)  866  (4,769) 

Buildings and building improvements -  -  (1,068)  -  (1,068) 

Vehicles -  -  (1,199)  -  (1,199) 

Total accumulated depreciation -  -  (7,902)  866  (7,036) 

Total right-of-use asets -        62,792 

          

Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2020      Thousand Baht  7,902 

During the year 2020, the lessors offered the reduction of lease charges to the Group and 

the Company in the amounts of Baht 19,455,829 and Baht 87,372, respectively. In accordance 

with the temporary relief measures for additional accounting alternatives to alleviate the impacts 

from the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group and the Company adjusted the lease reduction by 

reducing depreciation of right-of-use assets in the amounts of Baht 19,211,135 and Baht 81,225, 

and interest on lease liabilities in the amounts of Baht 550,810 and Baht 11,089, 

respectively, with differences recognized in profit or loss of Baht 306,116 and Baht 4,943, 

respectively. 

The Group leases several assets including land, buildings, plant and vehicles. The lease 

terms are between 2-15 years. 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in Note 19. 

Amounts recognized in profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2020, consist of: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  

Financial 

Statements 

 Separate  

Financial 

Statements 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets - after adjusting lease reduction 28,411  7,820 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,681  965 

Expense relating to short-term leases 21,939  15,589 

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 1,278  874 

Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the 

measurement of the lease liability 1,645 

 

1,307 

Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets 241  - 

At December 31, 2020, the Group and the Company have commitments under short-term 

leases and low-value assets leases totaling Baht 12.16 million and Baht 8.02 million, 

respectively. Some of the leases in which the Group is the lessee contain variable lease 

payment terms that are linked to sales generated. Variable payment terms are used to link 

rental payments to store cash flows and reduce fixed cost.  
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The breakdown of lease payments for these stores for the year ended December 31, 2020 is as 

follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

 Separate  

Financial Statements 

Fixed payments 23,217  16,463 

Variable payments 1,645  1,307 

Total payments 24,862  17,770 

Overall the variable payments constitute up to 6.6% of the Group’s entire lease payments. 

13. GOODWILL 

Movements of the goodwill for the years ended December 31, are summarized as follows:  

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 

Consolidated  

Financial Statements 

 2020  2019 

    

Balance as at January 1,  11,513  12,389 

Foreign exchange differences (45)  (876) 

Carrying amount as at December 31,  11,468  11,513 

Goodwill from the business acquisition (acquisition of shares of TAOKAENOI USA, Inc. 

in 2017) mainly consists of the business opportunities arising from the acquisition of a 

seaweed factory ready to operate immediately from the acquisition date. The acquisition 

will help to expand the production capacity and increase the revenue from sale of natural 

seaweed products, as well as enabling the Group to increase marketing channels and 

expand its customer base in North America. 

As at December 31, 2020, the management determined that there had been no impairment 

of goodwill. 

14. OTHER INTANGIBLE  ASSETS  OTHER  THAN  GOODWILL 

Other intangible assets other than goodwill as at December 31, consist of: 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Differences on  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  translation of  December 31, 

 2020        financial  2020 

         statements   

Cost             

Computer software 41,119  654  (1,343)  11,005  -  51,435 

Computer software under implementation 11,148  10,902  -  (11,005)  -  11,045 

Others 26,203  1,223  -  -  (12)  27,414 

Total cost 78,470  12,779  (1,343)  -  (12)  89,894 

            

Accumulated amortization            

Computer software (17,597)  (4,251)  1,118  -  -  (20,730) 

Others (9,904)  (3,605)  -  -  17  (13,492) 

Total accumulated amortization (27,501)  (7,856)  1,118  -  17  (34,222) 

Other intangible assets other than goodwill  50,969          55,672 
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As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Differences on  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  translation of  December 31, 

 2019        financial  2019 

         statements   

Cost            

Computer software 30,233  6,283  -  4,603  -  41,119 

Computer software under implementation 10,114  5,637  -  (4,603)  -  11,148 

Others 14,097  12,351  -  -  (245)  26,203 

Total cost 54,444  24,271  -  -  (245)  78,470 

            

Accumulated amortization            

Computer software (14,755)  (2,842)  -  -  -  (17,597) 

Others (3,830)  (6,239)  -  -  165  (9,904) 

Total accumulated amortization (18,585)  (9,081)  -  -  165  (27,501) 

Other intangible assets other than goodwill 35,859          50,969 

 

Amortization for the years ended December 31, 

2020         Thousand Baht  7,856 

2019         Thousand Baht  9,081 

 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  December 31, 

 2020        2020 

Cost           

Computer software 31,757  654  -  11,005  43,416 

Computer software under implementation 11,148  10,902  -  (11,005)  11,045 

Others 12,939  700  -  -  13,639 

Total cost 55,844  12,256  -  -  68,100 

          
Accumulated amortization          

Computer software (15,325)  (3,238)  -  -  (18,563) 

Others (6,297)  (2,433)  -  -  (8,730) 

Total accumulated amortization (21,622)  (5,671)  -  -  (27,293) 

Other intangible assets other than goodwill 34,222        40,807 

As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balance as at  Additions  Disposals  Transfer in  Balance as at 

 January 1,      (Transfer out)  December 31, 

 2019        2019 

Cost           

Computer software 26,230  924  -  4,603  31,757 

Computer software under implementation 10,114  5,637  -  (4,603)  11,148 

Others 9,251  3,688  -  -  12,939 

Total cost 45,595  10,249  -  -  55,844 

          
Accumulated amortization          

Computer software (12,315)  (3,010)  -  -  (15,325) 

Others (2,080)  (4,217)  -  -  (6,297) 

Total accumulated amortization (14,395)  (7,227)  -  -  (21,622) 

Other intangible assets other than goodwill 31,200        34,222 

 

Amortization for the years ended December 31, 

2020         Thousand Baht  5,671 

2019         Thousand Baht  7,227 
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15. SHORT-TERM  BORROWINGS  FROM  FINANCIAL  INSTITUTIONS 

Short-term borrowings from financial institutions as at December 31, are as follows: 
 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Interest rate (% p.a.)  Consolidated Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 
        

Promissory notes 1.30 - 1.66 

 

1.85 - 2.13 

 

522,000 

 

698,000 

Trust receipts 1.25 - 1.50 1.90 - 2.20 168,217 156,672 

     690,217  854,672 

        
     Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Interest rate (% p.a.)  Separate Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 
        

Promissory notes 1.30 - 1.48 

 

1.85 - 2.13 

 

512,000 

 

690,000 

Trust receipts 1.25 -1.50 1.90 - 2.20 168,217 156,672 

     680,217  846,672 

Such loans are unsecured and callable on demand. As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the 

Company had unused bank credit facilities of Baht 1,745 million and Baht 1,347 million, 

respectively.  

16. TRADE  AND  OTHER  CURRENT  PAYABLES 

Trade and other current payables as December 31, consist of: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate  

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 
        

Trade payables - related parties 4  83  12,919  31,748 

Trade payables - other parties 169,668 303,056 149,725 235,211 

Other payables - related parties -  18  175  1,333 

Other payables - other parties 89,015  90,075  78,150  84,638 

Payables for purchase of fixed and        

intangible assets 36,525  31,512  34,965  27,204 

Accrued expenses 273,122  179,034  270,821  175,815 

 568,334  603,778  546,755  555,949 

17. SHORT-TERM  BORROWINGS 

Short-term borrowings as at December 31, are as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

Borrower Credit Limit Interest  Repayment  Consolidated  

  Rate Term  Financial Statements 

  (% p.a.)   2020  2019 

TAOKAENOI USA, Inc.        

Borrowing from    

 

 

 

 

Samhae Commercial Co., Ltd. USD 0.4 million 4.6 At call 14,588 14,056 

        

Taokaenoi Restaurant & Franchise        

Company Limited        

Borrowing from a director Baht 10 million 2.15 At call  -  10,000 

     14,588  24,056 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, such short-term borrowings are unsecured borrowings. 
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18. LONG-TERM  BORROWING 

Long-term borrowing as at December 31, is as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

Borrower Credit Limit Interest Repayment term  Consolidated  

  rate   Financial Statements 

  (% p.a.)   2020  2019 

TAOKAENOI USA, Inc.     

 

4,507 

  

 

- 

Other long-term 

borrowing USD 0.2 million 1.0 January 2022 - August 2025   

19. LEASE  LIABILITIES 

Lease liabilities as at December 31, 2020 consist of (see Note 2.5.2): 

Unit: Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  

Financial Statements 

 Separate 

Financial Statements 

Maturity analysis:    

Within 1 year   26,789  11,639 

After 1 year but within 5 years 45,625  35,127 

After 5 years 23,928  23,928 

 96,342  70,694 

Less Deferred interest expense (8,002)  (7,524) 

Total 88,340  63,170 

    
Classification:    

Current portion of lease liabilities 25,155  10,427 

Lease liabilities 63,185  52,743 

Total 88,340  63,170 

20. NON-CURRENT  PROVISION  FOR  EMPLOYEE  BENEFIT  OBLIGATIONS 

The Company and its subsidiaries recorded employee benefit obligations upon retirement which 

are considered as unfunded defined benefit plans. 

Non-current provisions for employee benefit obligations and amounts recognized as 

expenses in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of 

the defined benefit plans for the years ended December 31, are as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

  
Consolidated 

Financial Statements  
 Separate  

Financial Statements 

    2020   2019  2020   2019 

The Statement of Financial Position as at December 31,        
Obligations in statement of financial position for 
post-employment benefits 

 
31,338 

  
25,474 

  
29,526  

 
24,875 

        
The Statement of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31,       
  Recognized in profit or loss        

Current service cost 4,212  3,794  3,730  3,704 
Interest cost  510  460  499  448 
Past service cost -  2,339  -  2,221 

 4,722  6,593  4,229  6,373 

  Recognized in other comprehensive income        
Actuarial loss on defined employee benefit plan 2,604  2,029  1,527  1,953 

Expenses recorded in the statements of profit or loss         
 and other comprehensive income  7,326  8,622  5,756  8,326 
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Movements of the present values of the defined benefit obligations for the years ended 

December 31, are as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate  

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020   2019  2020   2019 

Balance of present value of defined benefit obligations        

    as at January 1, 25,474  17,320  24,875  17,017 

Current service cost 4,212  3,794  3,730  3,704 

Interest cost 510  460  499  448 

Past service cost -  2,339  -  2,221 

Actuarial loss on defined employee benefit plan 2,604  2,029  1,527  1,953 

Less  Benefits paid during the year (1,462)  (468)  (1,105)  (468) 

Balance of present value of defined benefit obligation         

 as at December 31,  31,338  25,474  29,526  24,875 

Employee benefit expenses are recognized in profit or loss as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 
 Consolidated  Separate  

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020   2019  2020   2019 

Cost of manufacturing 2,884  2,444  2,819  2,387 

Administrative expenses 1,838  4,149  1,410  3,986 

Total 4,722  6,593  4,229  6,373 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized the actuarial loss in              

the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss in the amounts of Baht 2.60 

million and Baht 1.53 million, respectively. Such actuarial loss mainly resulted from the 

decrease in the discount rate and the salary increase rate according to the actuarial 

assumption (2019 : Baht 2.03 million and Baht 1.95 million, respectively). 

The key actuarial assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit obligations as at 

December 31, are as follows: 

 Consolidated Separate 

 Financial Statements Financial Statements 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 

     

Discount rate (% p.a.) 0.36 - 2.99% 1.43 - 3.92% 0.36 - 2.99% 1.43 - 3.92% 

Mortality rate Thai Mortality Thai Mortality Thai Mortality Thai Mortality 

 Table 2017 Table 2017 Table 2017 Table 2017 

Salary increase rate 2.0% - 6.5% 3.5% - 7.0% 2.0% - 6.5% 3.5% - 7.0% 

Employee turnover rate 0% - 50% 0% - 50% 0% - 50% 0% - 50% 
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The changes of significant assumptions that affect the increase (decrease) in the present 

value of the long-term employee benefit obligation as at December 31, are summarized as 

follows: 

 Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  

Financial Statements 

Separate  

Financial Statements 

 Financial Statements Financial Statements 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 

Discount rate     

Decrease by 1 percent 3,676 1,924 3,387 1,858 

Increase by 1 percent (3,240) (1,668) (2,995) (1,612) 

     

Salary growth rate     

Decrease by 1 percent (3,145) (1,986) (2,908) (1,926) 

Increase by 1 percent 3,624 2,260 3,349 2,189 

     

Employee turnover rate     

Decrease by 20 percent of base in each age 10,054 5,483 9,256 5,251 

Increase by 20 percent of base in each age (6,493) (3,539) (5,971) (3,402) 

The sensitivity analysis presented above might not be representative of the actual change 

in the defined employee benefit obligations as it was unlikely that the change in 

assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions might be 

correlated. 

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation was calculated using the Projected Unit Credit Method at the end of the 

report period, which was the same as that applied in calculating the post-employment 

benefit obligation liability recognized in the statement of financial position. 

21. LEGAL  RESERVE 

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is 

required to set aside a legal reserve of at least 5 percent of its annual net earnings after 

deducting accumulated deficit brought forward (if any) until the reserve reaches 10 

percent of the registered share capital and the reserve is not available for distribution as 

dividends. At present, the statutory reserve has fully been set aside. 

Pursuant to Section 1202 of the Thai Civil and Commercial Code, the subsidiaries are 

required to set aside a legal reserve of at least 5 percent of net earnings each time the 

subsidiaries pay out a dividend until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered share 

capital and the reserve is not available for distribution as dividends. 
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22. EXPENSE  BY  NATURE 

Expenses by nature for the years ended December 31, are as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

        

Salaries, wages and other employee benefits 879,725  1,047,650  802,700  943,730 

Depreciation and amortization 182,917  163,338  145,001  140,225 

Rental expenses under lease agreements 59,132  136,693  48,386  71,995 

Transportation expenses 83,284  98,669  79,162  89,776 

Utility and energy expenses 93,884  83,437  89,457  77,743 

Sales promotion and marketing expenses 179,271  420,618  165,369  398,677 

Raw materials and consumable goods 2,311,000  2,886,626  1,914,690  2,563,827 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and        

work in process (57,025)  (9,420)  (31,720)  (3,465) 

23. INCOME  TAX 

Income tax expenses for the years ended December 31, are summarized as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Current income tax        

Corporate income tax for the year  39,871  35,855  39,982  35,402 

Adjustment in respect of income tax of the 

 previous year 705 

 

(6,847) 

 

705 

 

(4,444) 

Other adjustments 55  -  55  - 

Deferred tax        

Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal 

of temporary differences   (9,452) 

 

(17,966) 

 

(7,669) 

 

15 

Income tax expenses reported in the statements  

 of profit or loss  31,179 

 

11,042 

 

33,073 

 

30,973 

The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for 

the years ended December 31, are summarized as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Deferred tax relating to unrealized gain on        

revaluation of available-for-sale investments (9)  8  (9)  8 

Deferred tax relating to actuarial losses (521)  (406)  (305)  (391) 

 (530)  (398)  (314)  (383) 
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The reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expenses for the years ended 

December 31, is as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Accounting profit before income tax 273,052  372,884  370,451  460,267 

        
Applicable corporate income tax rates 20% and 28%  20% and 28%  20%  20% 
        
Income tax using applicable tax rate 74,131  92,526  74,090  92,053 
Adjustment in respect of income tax of the        

 previous year 705  (6,847)  705  (4,444) 
Other adjustments 55  -  55  - 
Effects on:         

Gain from operations exempted from corporate         
income tax (Note 24) (36,720)  (52,887)  (36,720)  (52,887) 

Non-taxable expenses 5,714  16,274  3,357  13,583 
Expenses that are deductible more than actual paid (12,383)  (37,470)  (8,091)  (16,924) 
Others (323)  (554)  (323)  (408) 

Total  (43,712)  (74,637)  (41,777)  (56,636) 

Income tax expense  31,179  11,042  33,703  30,973 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended December 31, consist of: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 
 Consolidated  Separate 
 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 
        

Deferred tax assets 95,105  66,615  41,536  20,467 
Deferred tax liabilities (19,300)  (792)  (13,843)  (757) 

Total 75,805  65,823  27,693  19,710 

Movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended December 31, are as 

follows: 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balances   Recognized   Recognized in  Balances  

 as at  in profit  other  as at 

 January 1,  or loss  comprehensive  December 31, 

 2020    income  2020 

Deferred tax assets        
Unrealized loss on revaluation of other current        

financial assets 227  (18)  -  209 
Loss allowance 3,123  870  -  3,993 
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories 1,074  6,352  -  7,426 
Allowance for loss on impairment of assets 4,772  (407)  -  4,365 
Lease liabilities -  18,090  -  18,090 
Temporary differences of depreciation of         

assets located on leased land 8,015  2,844  -  10,859 
Fair value adjustment of assets from business        

combination 2,226  (2,226)  -  - 
Provision for long-term employee benefits 5,095  652  521  6,268 
Unused tax loss 40,863  2,209  -  43,072 
Others 1,220  (397)  -  823 

Total 66,615  27,969  521  95,105 

        
Deferred tax liabilities        

Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments        
in available-for-sale securities (9)  -  9  - 

Rights under the operating lease contract from        
business combination (35)  35  -  - 

Right-of-use assets -  (17,954)  -  (17,954) 
Temporary differences of leases (748)  (536)  -  (1,284) 
Others -  (62)  -  (62) 

Total (792)  (18,517)  9  (19,300) 

Deferred tax asset - net 65,823  9,452  530  75,805 
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As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Balances   Recognized   Recognized in  Balances  

 as at  in profit  other  as at 

 January 1,  or loss  comprehensive  December 31, 

 2019    income  2019 

Deferred tax assets        

Unrealized loss on revaluation of investments        

in trading securities 170  57  -  227 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 3,268  (145)  -  3,123 

Allowance for diminution in value of inventories 5,259  (4,185)  -  1,074 

Allowance for loss on impairment of assets 3,904  868  -  4,772 

Temporary differences of depreciation of         

assets located on leased land 4,182  3,833  -  8,015 

Fair value adjustment of assets from business        

combination 2,599  (373)  -  2,226 

Provision for long-term employee benefits 3,464  1,225  406  5,095 

Unused tax loss 23,963  16,900  -  40,863 

Others 1,232  (12)  -  1,220 

Total 48,041  18,168  406  66,615 

        

Deferred tax liabilities        

Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments        

in available-for-sale securities (1)  -  (8)  (9) 

Rights under the operating lease contract from        

business combination (484)  449  -  (35) 

Temporary differences of finance lease agreements (97)  (651)  -  (748) 

Total (582)  (202)  (8)  (792) 

Deferred tax asset - net 47,459  17,966  398  65,823 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balances   Recognized in  Recognized in  Balances  

 as at  profit or loss  other  as at 

 January 1,    comprehensive  December 31, 

 2020    income  2020 

Deferred tax assets        

Loss allowance 2,664  292  -  2,956 

Allowance for diminution in value of inventories 780  5,531  -  6,311 

Allowance for loss on impairment of assets 2,813  -  -  2,813 

Lease liabilities -  12,634  -  12,634 

Temporary differences of depreciation of         

assets located on leased land 8,015  2,844  -  10,859 

Provision for long-term employee benefits 4,975  625  305  5,905 

Others 1,220  (1,162)  -  58 

Total 20,467  20,764  305  41,536 

        

Deferred tax liabilities        

Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments        

in available-for-sale securities (9)  -  9  - 

Right-of-use assets -  (12,559)  -  (12,559) 

Temporary differences of leases (748)  (536)  -  (1,284) 

Total (757)  (13,095)  9  (13,843) 

Deferred tax asset - net 19,710  7,669  314  27,693 
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As at December 31, 2019 

Unit : Thousand Baht 
 Separate Financial Statements 

 Balances   Recognized in  Recognized in  Balances  

 as at  profit or loss  other  as at 

 January 1,    comprehensive  December 31, 

 2019    income  2019 

Deferred tax assets        

Allowance for doubtful accounts 2,756  (92)  -  2,664 

Allowance for diminution in value of inventories 5,050  (4,270)  -  780 

Allowance for loss on impairment of assets 2,813  -  -  2,813 

Temporary differences of depreciation of         

assets located on leased land 4,182  3,833  -  8,015 

Provision for long-term employee benefits 3,403  1,181  391  4,975 

Others 1,236  (16)  -  1,220 

Total 19,440  636  391  20,467 

        

Deferred tax liabilities        

Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments        

in available-for-sale securities (1)  -  (8)  (9) 

Temporary differences of finance lease agreements (97)  (651)  -  (748) 

Total (98)  (651)  (8)  (757) 

Deferred tax asset - net 19,342  (15)  383  19,710 

24.  PROMOTIONAL  PRIVILEGES 

The Company has received promotional privileges from the Board of Investments for the 

manufacturing of seaweed products and snacks made from flour under certain significant 

conditions. Significant privileges of the Company are as follows: 

Promotional privileges 
Certificate No. 

1433/2553 2155(2)/2554 63-1161-00-1-0 

1. Exemption from corporate income tax on net profit 

from the promoted operations 

- 7 years  

from 1 October 2017 

6 years 

(To be announced) 

    

2. Exemption from import duty on imported and 

essential raw materials used in manufacturing for 

export sales for a period of 1 year commencing from 

the first importation date. However, the promotion 

period has been extended. 

Granted Granted 

 

Granted 

 

    

3. Exemption from import duty on items imported for 

re-export, for a period of 1 year commencing from 

the first importation date. However, the promotion 

period has been extended. 

Granted 

 

Granted 

 

Granted 
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The Company’s revenues for the years ended December 31, divided between promoted 

and non-promoted operations, are summarized as follows: 
Unit : Thousand Baht 

  Promoted operations  Non-promoted operations  Total 

  2020  2019  2020  2019  2020  2019 

Sales             

Domestic sales  146,884  288,878  1,056,492  1,548,339  1,203,376  1,837,217 

Export sales  1,172,060  1,564,023  1,468,404  1,528,652  2,640,464  3,092,675 

Total sales  1,318,944  1,852,901  2,524,896  3,076,991  3,843,840  4,929,892 

25. PROVIDENT  FUND 

The Group and its employees have jointly established a provident fund in accordance with 

the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. The Group and its employees have made monthly 

contributions to the fund at the rate of 3% - 7% of the employees’ base salaries. The fund, 

which is managed by Krung Thai Asset Management Public Company Limited, will be 

paid to employees upon termination in accordance with the fund’s rules. The Group and 

its subsidiaries recognized the contributions for the year 2020 amounting to Baht 11.2 

million and Baht 10.5 million as expenses, respectively (2019: Baht 11.8 million and Baht 

10.9 million, respectively). 

26.  DIVIDENDS 

On April 25, 2019, the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting passed a resolution to 

distribute annual dividends from the operations of the year 2018 for 1,380 million shares at 

Baht 0.34 per share, totaling Baht 469.2 million. The dividends consist of interim dividends 

at Baht 0.17 per share, totaling Baht 234.6 million, which were paid on September 6, 2018, 

and additional dividends at Baht 0.17 per share, totaling Baht 234.6 million, which were 

paid on May 8, 2019. 

On August 14, 2019, the Board of Directors’ Meeting of the Company passed a resolution to 

distribute the interim dividend from the operations of the six-month period of the year 2019 for 

1,380 million shares at Baht 0.11 per share, totaling Baht 151.8 million, which were paid on 

September 11, 2019. 

On February 24, 2020, the Board of Directors’ Meeting of the Company passed a resolution to 

distribute annual dividends from the operations of the year 2019 for 1,380 million shares at Baht 

0.26 per share, totaling Baht 358.8 million. The dividends consist of interim dividends at Baht 0.11 

per share, totalling Baht 151.8 million, which were paid on September 11, 2019, and additional 

dividends at Baht 0.15 per share, totaling Baht 207.0 million, which were paid on April 24, 2020. 

On August 10, 2020, the Board of Director’s Meeting of the Company passed a resolution to 

distribute the interim dividend from the operations of the six-month of the year 2020 for 1,380 

million shares at Baht 0.11 per share, totaling Baht 151.8 million, which were paid on September 9, 

2020. 
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27.  TREASURY  SHARES 

On March 26, 2020, the Board of Directors’ Meeting of the Company approved the treasury 

share repurchase for financial management which the period of repurchase is between 

April 10, 2020 and October 9, 2020 in the amount not exceeding Baht 100,000,000 with the 

amount of shares to be repurchased of not exceeding 20,000,000 shares or equal to 1.45 

percent of the total issued and paid up shares of the Company. The Company has not 

repurchased any treasury shares within such period and has announced the end of such project. 

28.  TRANSACTIONS  WITH  RELATED  PARTIES 

The relationships between the Company and related parties are summarized as follows: 

Company name Relationship 

  

Taokaenoi Restaurant & Franchise Company Limited Subsidiary 

Taokaenoi Care Company Limited Subsidiary 

NCP Trading & Supply Company Limited Subsidiary 

TAOKAENOI USA, Inc. Subsidiary 

Peeradechapan Holding Company Limited Major shareholders 

Dr. Tobi Company Limited Common shareholders/directors 

Chubcheeva Company Limited Common shareholders/directors 

Itthipat Peeradechapan Director 

Orrapat Peeradechapan Director 

Nutchatpong Peeradechapan Director 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group had significant business 

transactions with related parties. Such transactions, which are summarized below, 

arose in the ordinary course of business and were concluded on commercial terms and 

bases agreed upon between the Group and those related parties.  

 Unit : Thousand Baht 

Account name Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Subsidiaries        

Revenue from sales -  -  164,100  187,158 

Revenue from rendering accounting and        

   financing services -  -  3,984  1,788 

Interest income -  -  1,031  52 

Other income -  -  13  1,082 

Purchase of goods -  -  171,474  210,151 

Sales promotion expense -  -  3,417  9,071 

Rental expense -  -  279  - 

        

Related parties        

Revenue from sales 7  -  -  - 

Sales promotion income 11  -  -  - 

Rental income 234  -  -   

Other income 38  -  -  - 

Purchase of goods 37  691  32  - 

Rental expense 360  1,920  360  360 

Interest expense 81  219  -  - 

Other expense -  40  -  - 
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Pricing policies of each account can be described as follows: 

Account Transfer pricing policy 
Revenue from sales Cost plus margin at 15% - 45% depending on the purchase 

 volume and product types 
Revenue from rendering accounting  
  and financing services 

Actual cost plus margin 

Interest income Rate stipulated in the agreement 
Rental income Rate stipulated in the agreement 
Other income Rate stipulated in the agreement 
Purchase of goods Cost plus margin at 5% - 15% and cost plus margin at 35% - 70%  

    depending on the purchase volume and product types for     
    subsidiaries and related parties, respectively 

Sales promotion expense Rate stipulated in the agreement 
Rental expense Rate stipulated in the agreement 
Interest expense Rate stipulated in the agreement 
Other expense Rate stipulated in the agreement 

The balances of the accounts between the Group and those related parties as at December 31, 

are as follows: 

   Unit : Thousand Baht 

Account name Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Trade receivables         

     Subsidiaries -  -  69,405  130,324 

     Related parties 4  -  -  - 

Total 4  -  69,405  130,324 

        

     Unit : Thousand Baht 

Account name Consolidated  Separate 

 Financial Statements  Financial Statements 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Other receivables         

     Subsidiaries -  -  855  1,381 

     Related parties 17  14  -  - 

Total 17  14  855  1,381 

Trade payables        

     Subsidiaries -  -  12,919  31,748 

     Related parties 4  83  -  - 

Total 4  83  12,919  31,748 

Other payables        

     Subsidiaries -  -  175  1,333 

     Related parties -  18  -  - 

Total -  18  175  1,333 

SHORT-TERM  LOAN  TO  A  SUBSIDIARY  

Short-term loan to a subsidiary as at December 31, is as follows: 

Unit : Thousand Baht 

Borrower Interest rate (% per annum) Separate Financial Statements 

 2020 2019 2020  2019 

      

Taokaenoi Restaurants & Franchise Co., Ltd. 1.96 - 2.20 - 99,500  - 
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BORROWING  FROM  A  DIRECTOR 

Borrowing from a director as at December 31, is as follows: 

Unit : Thousand 

Baht 

Borrower Interest rate (% per annum) Consolidated Financial Statements 

 2020 2019 2020  2019 

Taokaenoi Restaurants & Franchise Co., Ltd. - 2.15 -  10,000 

DIRECTOR  AND  MANAGEMENT’S  BENEFITS 

During the years ended December 31, the Group had employee benefit expenses for its 

directors and management as follows: 

  Unit : Thousand Baht 

  Consolidated and Separate 

  Financial Statements 

  2020  2019 

Short-term benefits  33,997  37,104 

Post-employment benefits  2,152  2,479 

Total  36,149  39,583 

29. BASIC  EARNINGS  PER  SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity 

holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares issued during the year. 

30. OPERATING  SEGMENT 

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports 

of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to 

make decisions about the allocation of resources to the segment and assess its 

performance. 

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on its 

products and has 3 reportable segments as follows: 

1)   Snacks segment represents a manufacturer and distributor of fried, grilled, and 

baked seaweed and seaweed snacks in both domestic and overseas markets; 

2)  Retailer segment represents a retailer of snacks, food and beverages; and 

3)  Others. 

The chief operating decision maker monitors the operating results of the business units 

separately for the purposes of making decisions about resource allocation and assessing 

performance. Segment performance is measured by the Group based on the operating 

profit or loss, and total assets and total liabilities on a basis consistent with that used to 

measure the operating profit or loss, total assets and total liabilities in the financial 

statements. 
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The basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments is consistent 

with that for third party transactions 

The Group is organized into business units based on its products. During the current year, 

there has been no change in the structure of the operating segments as reported.  

Operating segment by business in the consolidated financial statements for the years 

ended December 31, are as follows: 

Unit: Million Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Snack 

segment 

 Retailer 

and 

restaurant 

segment 

 Other 

segments 

 Total  Elimination 

of inter-

segment 

 Total 

 For the year ended December 31, 2020            

Segment revenues from external sales 3,883.7  91.2  8.2  3,983.1  -  3,983.1 

Charges between segments 164.1  1.1  171.2  336.4  (336.4)  - 

Total revenues 4,047.8  92.3  179.4  4,319.5  (336.4)  3,983.1 

Segment profit (loss) 360.2  (80.5)  (4.6)  275.1  (0.1)  275.0 

Other income           16.2 

Finance costs           (18.1) 

Profit before income tax expense           273.1 

Income tax expense           (31.2) 

Profit for the year           241.9 

Other comprehensive loss for the year - net of tax           (1.7) 

Total comprehensive income for the year           240.2 

            
As at December 31, 2020            

Total assets for reportable segments 3,630.4  108.2  63.6  3,802.2  (321.3)  3,480.9 

Total liabilities for reportable segments 1,463.5  152.3  27.2  1,643.0  (184.6)  1,458.4 

 

Unit: Million Baht 
 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Snack 

segment 

 Retailer 

and 

restaurant 

segment 

 Other 

segments 

 Total  Elimination 

of inter-

segment 

 Total 

For the year ended December 31, 2019            

Segment revenues from external sales 4,891.2  355.3  20.3  5,266.8  -  5,266.8 

Charges between segments 187.1  (2.0)  212.2  397.3  (397.3)  - 

Total revenues 5,078.3  353.3  232.5  5,664.1  (397.3)  5,266.8 

Segment profit (loss) 397.7  (30.2)  (2.7)  364.8  3.8  368.6 

Other income           30.5 

Finance costs           (26.3) 

Profit before income tax expense           372.8 

Income tax expense           (11.0) 

Profit for the year           361.8 

Other comprehensive loss for the year - net of tax           (3.7) 

Total comprehensive income for the year           358.1 

            
As at December 31, 2019            

Total assets for reportable segments 3,755.8  162.6  83.0  4,001.4  (294.8)  3,706.6 

Total liabilities for reportable segments 1,558.1  129.3  42.8  1,730.2  (164.8)  1,565.4 
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Other segment information for the years ended December 31, are as follows: 
Unit: Million Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Snack 

segment 

 Retailer 

and 

restaurant 

segment 

 Other 

segments 

 Total  Elimination 

of inter-

segment 

 Total 

For the year ended December 31, 2020            

Depreciation and amortization 145.9  30.8  6.5  183.2  (0.3)  182.9 

Additions to non-current assets other than financial 

instruments and deferred tax assets 3,287.8  100.8  63.2  3,451.8  (321.3)  3,130.5 

Unit: Million Baht 
 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Snack 

segment 

 Retailer 

and 

restaurant 

segment 

 Other 

segments 

 Total  Elimination 

of inter-

segment 

 Total 

For the year ended December 31, 2019            

Depreciation and amortization 148.5  11.4  3.4  163.3  -  163.3 

Additions to non-current assets other than financial 

instruments and deferred tax assets 3,688.2  156.9  82.8  3,927.9  (294.8)  3,633.1 

For the years ended December 31, revenues from external sales based on customers’ 

locations are as follows: 

 Unit : Million Baht 

Country Consolidated 

 Financial Statements 

 2020  2019 

Thailand 1,275  2,120 

People Republic’s of China 1,514  1,906 

Others 1,194  1,241 

Total 3,983  5,267 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, revenue from sales included revenue arising from 

sales to the Group’s largest customer in the People’s Republic of China of Baht 1,492.9 

million (2019: Baht 492.7 million) which such company is a subsidiary of one of the 

Company’s shareholders. Apart from the customer mentioned, there are two local 

customers which the sales to both are above 10 percent of the Group’s total revenue for the 

years 2020 and 2019. 

31. COMMITMENTS  AND  LETTERS  OF  GUARANTEE 

31.1 Capital commitments 

As at December 31, 2020, the Group had capital commitments of Baht 69.4 million, 

relating to the purchase of machinery and equipment (2019: Baht 10.5 million, 

relating to the purchase of machinery and equipment and factory building 

improvements).  
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31.2   Commitments under operating lease and service agreements 

The Group entered into lease agreements in respect of the lease of land, building space and 

office, and service agreements including marketing service agreements. The terms of the 

agreements are generally between 1 and 3 years. 

Future minimum payments required under these agreements are as follows: 
Unit :  Million Baht 

 Consolidated Separate 
 Financial Statements Financial Statements 

Payment periods 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Within 1 year   20.0 75.3 17.2 25.3 
Over 1 year but not over 5 years 4.3 66.3 2.8 22.8 
Over 5 years  - 13.4 - 10.4 

The office rental expense and service expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 

and the land, building space and office rental expense and service expense for the year 

ended December 31, 2019  were recorded as expenses in the consolidated statements 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounting to Baht 17.8 million and 

Baht 81.2 million, respectively, and the separate statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income amounting to Baht 11.1 million and Baht 24.9 million, 

respectively. 

31.3   Commitments under raw material purchase agreements 

The Company entered into agreements to purchase raw materials from overseas suppliers, 

for a period of delivery within 1 year, in quantities and at prices stipulated in the 

agreements. As at December 31 2019, the Company had commitments under the 

agreements of USD 1.7 million (2020: Nil). 

31.4   Letters of guarantee  

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were outstanding letters of guarantee of Baht 

3.7 million, issued by banks on behalf of the Company in respect of certain performance 

bonds as required in the normal course of business of the Company. These included letters 

of guarantee for electricity usage and others 

32. LITIGATIONS 

32.1 On February 9, 2016, a Japanese company filed a civil lawsuit against the Company with the 

Central Intellectual Property and International Trade Court for a breach of a technical 

assistance agreement, claiming damages amounting to USD 150,000 plus interest at a rate of 

7.5% per annum from the date the lawsuit was filed. Subsequently, on May 2, 2016, the Court 

disposed of the case since the Plaintiff and the Company were bound by the rules of the 

arbitration clause stipulated in the agreement to settle the dispute through an arbitration 

process at the Singapore International Arbitration Centre. However, on October 10, 2016, the 

Plaintiff filed a motion requesting the Court to set aside a regular proceeding and on September 

15, 2016, the Court dismissed the motion. Subsequently, on November 3, 2016, the Plaintiff 

filed an appeal against the Court’s order to dispose of the case. The Court received and 

forwarded the appeal to the Supreme Court. Subsequently, on July 19, 2018, the Supreme 

Court dismissed the judgment of the Central Intellectual Property and International Trade 

Court since additional issues raised by the Plaintiff had not been considered by the Court. 
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 Witnesses of Plaintiff and the Defendant appeared before the court as prescribed in 

August 2019 for a hearing. Subsequently, on October 25, 2019, the Court rendered the 

judgment ordering the Company to pay the Defendant for compensation of Baht 

500,000 with interest at a rate of 7.5% per annum calculating from the date of 

judgment rendered and costs for the Plaintiff. On November 6, 2019, the Company 

issued a cashier cheque to the Intellectual Property and International Trade Court in 

the amount of Baht 641,219 following the Court’s judgment. The Company recorded 

such amount as an expense in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 

December 31, 2019. 

 Subsequently, on January 22, 2020, the Plaintiff filed an appeal to the Court and the 

Company filed a cross-appeal on March 20, 2020. The Court of Appeal for 

Specialized Cases rendered a judgement on August 17, 2020 ordering the Company to 

pay the Plaintiff in the amount of USD 50,000 plus interest at a rate of 7.5% per 

annum.  On August 31, 2020, the Company issued a cashier cheque to the Intellectual 

Property and International Trade Court in the amount of Baht 1,672,372.78 following 

the Court’s judgment. The Company recorded such amount as an expense in the 

statement of profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 Subsequently, on October 16, 2020 the Company filed an appeal to the Supreme Court 

requesting to amend the judgment of the Court of Appeal for Specialized Cases and order 

as the judgment of the Court. Presently, the case is being reviewed by the Supreme 

Court. 

32.2 On February 18, 2019, the Company filed a claim against one of the Company’s 

distributors in China under a civil lawsuit on the ground of breaching the distributorship 

agreement since the aforementioned distributor sold products in the same category as the 

Company’s and used trademark imitated from the Company’s trademark. The Company 

demanded for compensation on damages, product cost, and related expenses including 

loss of benefit in the approximate amount of Chinese Yuan 119 million (approximately 

Baht 569 million). Due to the provision of the Agreement, this case must be brought to 

the arbitration proceedings. Later, on August 30, 2019, The Company filed the claim to       

The Thai Arbitration Institute (TAI). The Company claimed for damages, products and 

other related expenses including fee for loss of opportunity in the amount of Baht 96 

million. The Thai Arbitration Institute prescribed February 19, 2020 as a hearing date. 

The distributor did not attend the hearing; therefore, the Arbitrators have proceeded the       

parte trial. After the trial, the Company filed a closing statement on March 16, 2020. 

Subsequently, on April 21, 2020, the Arbitrators rendered the judgement directing 

the distributor to pay the Company in the approximate amount of Baht 54 million 

plus interest at a rate of 7.5% per annum. Since the distributor has a domicile and 

properties in the People’s Republic of China, the enforcement of the future order 

will be proceeded in the People’s Republic of China. 
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32.3  On March 16, 2019 and May 6, 2019, the Chinese distributor filed  two cases claiming 

against the Company as joint defendant with another distributor in China to stop 

violating Chinese brand name immediately and demanded the Company and the 

distributor to compensate for damages in the approximate amount of Chinese Yuan 25 

million (approximately Baht 120 million) for the first case and Chinese Yuan 25 million 

(approximately Baht 120 million) for the second case, and to demand the Company to stop 

using two marks and jointly or severally compensate for expenses resulting from this 

case which the court prescribed the hearing in August 2019. Subsequently, on December 27, 

2019, the Court’s decision ordered the Company and the distributor to cease the 

trademark infringement from the date of decision onwards, including the retailers to 

cease the distribution of goods with the Plaintiff’s trademark from the date of decision 

onwards, and ordered the Company and the distributor to compensate the Plaintiff for 

the expenses of Chinese Yuan 150,000 (approximately Baht 0.65 million) for the first 

case within 10 days from the date the decision came into effect, and compensate the 

Plaintiff for the expenses of Chinese Yuan 195,680.40 (approximately Baht 0.85 

million) for the second case within 10 days from the date the decision came into effect. 

The Company has recorded such amount (Chinese Yuan 345,680.40 or equal to Baht 

1.51 million) as an expense in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 

December 31, 2019. 

Subsequently, on February 5, 2020, the Company filed appeals for both cases to the 

Intellectual Property Court of Shanghai. However, the judgments of the Intellectual 

Property Court of Shanghai have upheld and followed the judgements of the court of 

first instance which were rendered on December 26, 2020.  With this respect, for the first 

case, such Court has ordered the Company to compensate the Plaintiff for the additional 

expenses and court fee of Chinese Yuan 84,325 (approximately Baht 0.39 million), and, 

for the second case, Chinese Yuan 89,476 (approximately Baht 0.42 million) within 10 

days from the date on which the decision judgments came into effect. Additionally, the 

Company shall be liable for the appeal Court fee of Chinese Yuan 3,300. In this 

connection, the Company has recorded such amount (Chinese Yuan 173,801 or equal to 

Baht 0.81 million) as an expense in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 

December 31, 2020. 

33. FINANCIAL  INSTRUMENTS 

33.1  Financial risk management 

Paying attention to risk management, the Group defines the risk assessment process 

in accordance with the business objectives and goals by identifying and analyzing all 

types of risks, both present and future, formulate the corporate risk management 

policy, strategies and guidelines. These risks include market risk (including currency 

risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group seeks to minimize the effects of these risks by using financial 

instruments to hedge these risk exposures. The Group does not enter into or trade 

financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Furthermore, the risk management committee has been set up to perform risk 

management in overall as responsibility for all sector to manage and control risk to 

an acceptable level. 
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33.2 Market risk 

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign 

currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group enters into trade forward 

exchange contracts to manage its exposure to foreign currency. 

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in 

which these risks are managed and measured. 

Foreign currency risk management 

The Group’s exposed to the risk of exchange rate fluctuation because the Group 

orders seaweed raw materials from overseas countries and sells to overseas 

countries. Foreign currency contracts are denominated in US dollars and certain 

export contracts are denominated in US dollars as well. 

The Company seeks to reduce this risk by entering into forward exchange contracts 

when it considers appropriate. Generally, the forward contracts mature within one 

year. 

As at December 31, the balances of financial assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are as follows: 

 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

Foreign currency Financial assets Financial liabilities Average exchange rate 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

 (Million) (Million) (Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign 

     currency unit) 

US Dollar 6.74 6.06 4.20 3.30 30.04 30.15 

Singapore Dollar 0.44 0.46 0.06 0.03 22.66 22.32 

Hongkong Dollar - - 0.03 0.03 3.87 3.87 

Yuan 0.12 - 12.45 1.05 4.62 4.31 

Euro - - - 0.07 - 33.73 
 

 

 Separate Financial Statements 

Foreign currency Financial assets Financial liabilities Average exchange rate 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

 (Million) (Million) (Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign 

     currency unit) 

US Dollar 4.03 3.68 0.93 0.64 30.04 30.15 

Singapore Dollar 0.44 0.46 0.06 0.03 22.66 22.32 

Hongkong Dollar - - 0.03 0.03 3.87 3.87 

Yuan 0.12 - 12.45 1.05 4.62 4.31 

Euro - - - 0.07 - 33.73 
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The Company has outstanding forward exchange contracts as at December 31, as 

summarized below: 

As at December 31, 2020 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

Sold amount  Contractual exchange rate  Contractual maturity date 

  (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)   

USD 1.8 million  29.97 - 31.31  March - June 2021 

SGD 0.3 million  22.41  May - June 2021 

As at December 31, 2019 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

Sold amount  Contractual exchange rate  Contractual maturity date 

  (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)   

USD 1.8 million  29.92 - 30.26  May - June 2020 

 

Bought amount  Contractual exchange rate  Contractual maturity date 

  (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)   

USD 1.0 million  30.15 - 30.45  March - June 2020 

Interest rate risk management 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because of borrowings. The Group’s 

exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the 

liquidity risk management section of this note. 

33.3 Credit risk management 

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to accounts receivable. 

The Group manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and 

procedures and therefore does not expect to incur material financial losses. In 

addition, the Group does not have high concentration of credit risk since it has a 

large customer base. The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying 

amounts of accounts receivable and loans as stated in the statement of financial 

position. 

Furthermore, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each trade receivables 

and other current financial assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure that 

adequate loss allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts. 

33.4 Liquidity risk management 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash 

equivalents for the operation of the Group to reduce the impact of the fluctuation of 

cash flow. 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to its cash at banks and 

interest-bearing loans. Most of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities bear 

floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate.  
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Liquidity and interest risk tables 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, significant financial assets and liabilities 

classified by type of interest rate, with those financial assets and liabilities that carry 

fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity date, or the repricing date 

(if this occurs before the maturity date) are as follows. 

As at December 31, 2020 

Unit :  Million Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Fixed interest rates  Floating  Non-interest  Total  Interest 

 Within  More than  interest  bearing    rate 

 1 year  1-5 years  rate      (% p.a.) 

Financial assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 199.1  -  -  9.5  208.6  0.050 - 0.125 

Other current financial assets -  -  274.6  -  274.6  - 

Trade and other receivables -  -  -  436.3  436.3  - 

            

Financial liabilities            

Short-term loan from             

financial institutions 690.2  -  -  -  690.2  1.250 - 1.660 

Trade and other payables -  -  -  568.3  568.3  - 

Short-term loans -  14.6  -  -  14.6  4.600 

As at December 31, 2019 

Unit :  Million Baht 

 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 Fixed interest rates  Floating  Non-interest  Total  Interest 

 Within  More than  interest  bearing    rate 

 1 year  1-5 years  rate      (% p.a.) 

Financial assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 149.4  -  -  12.9  162.3  0.125 - 0.500 

Temporary investments -  -  7.6  -  7.6   - 

Trade and other receivables -  -  -  919.2  919.2   - 

            

Financial liabilities            

Short-term loan from             

financial institutions 854.7  -  -  -  854.7  1.800 - 2.130 

Trade and other payables -  -  -  603.8  603.8   - 

Short-term loan from a director 10.0  -  -  -  10.0  2.150 

Short-term loans -  14.1  -  -  14.1  4.600 
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As at December 31, 2020 

Unit :  Million Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Fixed interest rates  Floating  Non-interest  Total  Interest 

 Within  More than  interest  bearing    rate 

 1 year  1-5 years  rate      (% p.a.) 

Financial assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 184.2  -  -  5.3  189.5  0.050 - 0.125 

Other current financial assets -  -  271.8  -  271.8  - 

Trade and other receivables -  -  -  486.7  486.7  - 

Short-term loan to a subsidiary 99.5  -  -  -  99.5  1.960 - 2.200 

            

Financial liabilities            

Short-term loan from             

financial institutions 680.2  -  -  -  680.2  1.250 - 1.500 

Trade and other payables -  -  -  546.8  546.8  - 

As at December 31, 2019 

Unit :  Million Baht 

 Separate Financial Statements 

 Fixed interest rates  Floating  Non-interest  Total  Interest 

 Within  More than  interest  bearing    rate 

 1 year  1-5 years  rate      (% p.a.) 

Financial assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 124.8  -  -  6.1  130.9  0.125 - 0.500 

Temporary investments -  -  4.9  -  4.9  - 

Trade and other receivables -  -  -  1,026.5  1,026.5  - 

            

Financial liabilities            

Short-term loan from             

financial institutions 846.7  -  -  -  846.7  1.800 - 2.130 

Trade and other payables -  -  -  556.0  556.0   - 

33.5  Fair values of financial instruments 

Since the majority of the Group’s financial instruments are short-term in nature and 

loan payable bears interest rates which are close to the market rate, their fair values 

are not expected to be materially different from the amounts presented in the 

statement of financial position. 
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34. FAIR  VALUE  MEASUREMENTS 

Certain financial assets of the Company and the subsidiaries are measured at fair value in               

the statements of financial position at the end of the reporting period. The following table 

gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined. 

Financial assets CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 

SEPARATE 

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 

Fair  
value 

hierarchy 
 

Valuation technique 
and key input 

 Fair value 
(Thousand Baht)  

Fair value  
(Thousand Baht)  

2020 2019 2020 2019   

Investment in 
securities held for 
trading  

- 2,741 - - Level 1 
 

Use of quoted market 
prices in an active 
market for such assets 
or liabilities 

Investment in 
available-for-sale 
securities  

- 4,871 - 4,871 Level 2 
 

Use of other observable 
inputs for such assets or 
liabilities, whether 
directly or indirectly 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss - 
equity securities 

2,830 - - - Level 1 
 

Use of quoted market 
prices in an active 
market for such assets 
or liabilities 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss - 
open-ended fixed 
income fund 

271,820 - 271,820 - Level 2 
 

Use of other observable 
inputs for such assets or 
liabilities, whether 
directly or indirectly 

Investment 
property 

42,240 42,162 42,240 42,162 Level 2 
 

Use of other observable 
inputs for such assets or 
liabilities, whether 
directly or indirectly 

35. CAPITAL  MANAGEMENT 

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it has appropriate 

capital structure in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. As at 

December 31, 2020, the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio was 0.7:1 (2019: 0.7:1), and the 

Company’s was 0.6:1 (2019: 0.7:1).  

36. EVENT  AFTER  THE  REPORTING  PERIOD 

On March 1, 2021, the Board of Directors’ Meeting of the Company passed a resolution to 

distribute annual dividends from the operations of the year 2020 for 1,380 million shares at 

Baht 0.21 per share, totaling Baht 289.8 million. The dividends consist of interim dividends at 

Baht 0.11 per share, totaling Baht 151.8 million, which were paid on September 9, 2020, and 

additional dividends at Baht 0.10 per share, totaling Baht 138.0 million, which will be paid on 

May 7, 2021. 

37. APPROVAL  OF  THE  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 

March 1, 2021. 
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